



Tennessee Housing Development Agency

Andrew Jackson Building Third Floor
502 Deaderick St., Nashville, TN 37243

Bill Lee
Governor

Ralph M. Perrey
Executive Director

NOTICE

TO: Persons Interested in the Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Program
FROM: Multifamily Programs Division
DATE: October 23, 2023
SUBJECT: Draft Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Program Description for 2024

The following document is the initial draft of the Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Program Description for 2024 (the “Draft 2024 PD”). The Draft 2024 PD includes language regarding changes proposed by members of THDA’s Board of Directors, changes proposed by the public, and changes proposed by THDA staff. Staff expect to request approval of the 2024 Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Program Description by the THDA Board of Directors at the regularly scheduled meeting in November, 2023.

Changes proposed in this Draft 2024 PD may be accepted, rejected, or modified in any respect. Changes or modifications not currently reflected in this Draft 2024 PD may also be made. By posting this Draft 2024 PD, no representations are being made about any item that may be included, excluded, or modified in the preparation and approval of the final Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Program Description for 2024.

Written comments may be submitted by email to TNAallocation@thda.org. Please use the subject “DRAFT 2024 PD COMMENT”. **The deadline for submission of comments is 10:00 AM Central Time on Monday, October 30, 2023.**



MULTIFAMILY TAX-EXEMPT BOND AUTHORITY
DRAFT PROGRAM DESCRIPTION FOR 20232024

Administered by

The Multifamily Programs Division of
Tennessee Housing Development Agency

Ralph M. Perrey, Executive Director

Approved by the THDA Board of Directors on ~~November 15,~~
2022[DATE]

~~Amended by the THDA Board of Directors on May 23, 2023~~

Table of Contents

<u>Section</u>	<u>Section and Subsection Titles</u>	<u>Page Number</u>
1.	2023-2024 Multifamily Tax Exempt Bond Authority Overview	1
2.	Definitions	2
3.	Program Eligibility	12
	A. Use of Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority	
	B. Eligible Developments	
	C. Eligibility Documentation	
	D. Eligible Team Members	
	E. Identity of Interest	
4.	Federal Election	16
5.	Program Limits	17
	A. Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Amount	
	B. Maximum Amount of Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority per Developer or Related Parties	
	C. Limit on Developer's Fee	
	D. Limits on Costs of Issuance	
6.	THOMAS Submission of Applications	20
	A. Applications	
	B. Supporting Documents	
	C. Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Firm Commitment Eligibility Documents	
	D. Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Conditional Commitment Eligibility Documents	
	E. Multiple Applications for a Single Development	
	F. Multiple Developments Tied to a Single Bond Issuance	
7.	Application Review Process	22
	A. Applications Must Be Complete	
	B. Information Must Be Current	
	C. Review of Applications Requesting Commitment of Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority	
8.	Threshold Requirements and Scoring	23
	A. Threshold Requirements	
	B. Minimum Score	
9.	Ranking Process	24
10.	Commitment of Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority	26
	A. Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Conditional Commitment Letter	
	B. Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Firm Commitment Letter	
11.	Fees, Partial Refunds of Fees and Fees Retained by THDA	27
	A. Wiring Instructions	
	B. Application Fee	
	C. Special Request Application Fee	
	D. Resubmission Fee	
	E. Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Conditional Commitment Letter Fee	
	F. Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Firm Commitment Fee and Incentive Fee	
	G. Refund of Incentive Fee Following Issuance of Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority	
	H. Release of Commitments and Refund of Incentive Fee	
	I. Incentive Fee Retained by THDA	
	J. Monitoring Fee	

	K. Modification Fee	
	L. Extension Fee	
12.	Noncompetitive Housing Credits	30
13.	Requests for Supplemental MTBA	
14.	Controlling Document	31

Section 1: 2023-2024 Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority Overview

The Tennessee Housing Development Agency (“THDA”) is making private activity bond authority available to local issuers to finance multifamily housing units in Tennessee under 26 U.S.C. § 142(d) of the Internal Revenue Code (“Section 142”). The private activity bond authority can be used only for tax-exempt Private Activity Bonds issued to finance qualified residential rental projects through new construction of multifamily rental units, conversion of existing properties to multifamily rental units through Adaptive Reuse/Conversion, or acquisition and rehabilitation of Existing Multifamily Housing, hereinafter referred to as Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority (“MTBA”).

THDA anticipates two funding rounds as described in Table 6-1 in Section 6.C. THDA will notify program participants by email and information posted to THDA’s website. No applications submitted under this MTBA Program Description will have priority or be considered under any future MTBA Program Description.

Whenever a local jurisdiction takes action that THDA determines to be for the primary purpose of preventing proposed MTBA developments from satisfying applicable program requirements, THDA may lower the amount of MTBA available to that jurisdiction in future MTBA Program Descriptions. Examples include, without limitation, “downzoning”, action restricting utilities or utility connections, action regarding required public roads, or action to preventing issuance of Certificates of Occupancy.

Applicants must apply for MTBA through THDA’s online system, the Tennessee Housing Online Management Application System (“[THOMAS](#)”). Applicants applying for MTBA in THOMAS are deemed to be simultaneously applying for Noncompetitive Low-Income Housing [Tax](#) Credits (“Housing Credit”) under 26 U.S.C. § 42 of the Internal Revenue Code (“Section 42”) and must meet the requirements found in the THOMAS User Manual and use the documents found on the THOMAS Documents Page. All MTBA Program Description requirements, application requirements, and Code requirements must be met. If there is any inconsistency or conflict among the requirements, the most stringent of the requirements will apply, as determined by THDA.

When this Program Description calls for some THDA action, including, but not limited to, a determination, adjustment, review, evaluation, or exercise of discretion, all such actions shall be at THDA’s sole discretion, whether specifically so stated or not.

No person or entity who submits an Initial Application shall have any right to an allocation of MTBA under this Program Description based solely on the score assigned to their Initial Application. THDA decisions are final.



Section 2: Definitions

20/50 Test – The 20/50 Test is a federal minimum set-aside that may be elected by an Applicant for Housing Credit that requires at least 20% of the units in a Housing Credit Development to be both rent restricted and occupied by households whose income is less than or equal to 50% of area median gross income (“AMI”). This is an irrevocable election made in an Initial Application.

40/60 Test – The 40/60 Test is a federal minimum set-aside that may be elected by an Applicant for Housing Credit that requires at least 40% of the units in a Housing Credit Development to be both rent restricted and occupied by households whose income is less than or equal to 60% of AMI. This is an irrevocable election made in an Initial Application.

Average Income Test - The average income test is a minimum set-aside that may be elected by an applicant for Noncompetitive Housing Credits. Under this election, at least 40% of the units in a Housing Credit development are required to be both rent restricted and occupied by individuals whose incomes do not exceed the imputed income limitation designated by the applicant. This is an irrevocable election made at Initial Application. The average of the imputed income limitation designated cannot exceed 60% of AMI. The designated imputed income limitations must be in 10% increments as follows: 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70%, and 80%.

42(m) Letter - A letter issued by THDA to successful applicants for Noncompetitive Housing Credits.

Acquisition - Acquiring the control of real property and assets.

Adaptive Reuse/Conversion - The renovation and reuse of a pre-existing building that has not been used for residential purposes and creates additional affordable housing units. Pre-existing buildings used as hotels or motels are eligible as Adaptive Reuse/Conversion. Adaptive Reuse/Conversion will be evaluated and reviewed as New Construction.

AMI - Area Median Income as determined by HUD.

Applicant – An applicant for Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority under this Program Description that will own the proposed development.

Application – See “Initial Application”.

Appraisal - An opinion of value for land and building cost.

Basis Boost - An increase of up to 30% in eligible basis for a building in order to improve the financial feasibility of the building in a Difficult Development Area. In this MTBA Program Description, only areas defined by HUD as Difficult Development Areas are eligible for the Basis Boost.

Bond - A financial instrument issued on behalf of a local or state government for the purpose of providing special financing benefits for qualified projects.

Bond Counsel - Counsel representing the bond issuer and bondholders.

Bond Issuer - A municipality, board, or housing authority with the authority to issue bonds using MTBA for a jurisdiction.



Bond Opinion Letter - A document provided by Bond Counsel representing the issuer that opines that the bonds have been validly issued and, if tax exemption is intended, that the bonds are tax-exempt bonds.

Bond Purchase Agreement Summary Letter - The THDA Template that describes the terms of a bond purchase agreement.

Capital Needs Assessment - See Physical Needs Assessment

Carryover Allocation Application – The application and all related documentation required when a development with a Reservation Notice will not be placed in service in the same year as the Reservation Notice.

Certificate of Occupancy - A document issued by a local government agency or building department certifying a building's compliance with applicable building codes and other laws, and indicating it to be in a condition suitable for occupancy.

Certified Public Accountant - A state licensed accounting professional who provides accounting services and opinions and is committed to protecting the public interest.

Code – Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and together with Sections 42 and 142, shall include all subsequent tax legislation duly enacted by the Congress of the United States and shall be deemed to include the United States Treasury Regulations in effect with respect thereto (including regulations first promulgated under previous versions of the Code) and shall also include revenue procedures, revenue rulings, or other published determinations of the Treasury Department or the Internal Revenue Service of the United States.

Compliance Period – The period of 15 taxable years, commencing on the first day of the taxable year in which any building that is part of the Housing Credit Development is placed in service or, if deferred by election of the Owner of the Housing Credit Development, the first day of the next calendar year, but only if the building is a qualified low-income building as of the close of the first year of such period. This definition may be revised under the land use restrictive covenants for a longer duration based on Applicant's election under Section 20-10 of the Qualified Allocation Plan.

Commitment Fee - A fee charged for a firm commitment of MTBA.

Commitment for Permanent Financing - The commitment for long term permanent financing describing all terms and conditions of such financing.

Competitive Housing Credits - Housing Credits that are available for construction or rehabilitation housing activities as allocated through the competitive process described in the Qualified Allocation Plan.

Concerted Community Revitalization Plan (CCRP) – A document that assesses the health and potential prosperity of an area less than the entire state, through public interaction and assessment of the physical, social and economic health of the citizenry, businesses, infrastructure, and built environment in the area. A CCRP must contain all of the following:

1. Clearly delineate a targeted area within a local government boundary and where the proposed site sits within that target area;
2. Include housing as a stated goal;
3. Include an assessment of the targeted area's existing infrastructure needs;



4. Designate implementation measures; and
5. Be approved or re-approved by the appropriate local government or entity no earlier than 2013.

Conversion of Existing Property - See Adaptive Reuse/Conversion

Conditional 42(m) Letter – A letter issued by THDA to Applicants seeking a determination of 4% Housing Credit in conjunction with uncommitted Multifamily Tax–Exempt Bond Authority.

Consultant - A third-party entity that provides consulting services to MTBA Development Participants. An entity acting in the capacity of Owner, Developer, or General Contractor or which provides technical assistance to the Owner, Developer, or General Contractor is considered a Consultant. Consultants include, but are not limited to, construction management consultants, interior design consultants, relocation specialists, tax credit application consultants, resident certification consultants, HOPE VI consultants, etc. All consulting fees are considered part of the calculation of the maximum allowable Developer fee for each MTBA Development.

Cost Certification - The certification of actual total Development costs for a development and the amount of Housing Credit eligible basis in the Development at the completion of construction for a development.

Cost of Issuance - Costs associated with the issuance of Private Activity Bonds, capped at 2% in accordance with Code requirements. These costs include costs permitted under the Code and the MTBA Commitment Fee.

Credit Period – The 10–year period over which Housing Credit may be claimed. The Credit Period begins on the first day of the taxable year in which any building that is part of a Housing Credit Development is placed in service or, if deferred by election of the Owner of the Housing Credit Development, the first day of the next calendar year, but only if the building is a qualified low–income building as of the close of the first year of such period.

Developer - The legal entity designated as the Developer in the Application as well as all persons, affiliates of such persons, corporations, partnerships, joint ventures, associations, or other entities that have a direct or indirect ownership interest in the Developer entity. Material participation (through Placed In Service) is required for all developers and for all entities that receive any portion of the Developer Fee.

Development Team - Includes any individual or member of the development team including Governors/Directors, Members and Managers/Officers of the Ownership Entity; Officers, Directors, and Stockholders of the Development Entity and Officers, Directors, and Stockholders of the Property Management Company.

Difficult Development Area (“DDA”) –Any area designated as such by HUD or as so defined by THDA in accordance with Section 42(d)(5)(B)(v). The list is available here: <https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/qct.html>.

Disability –With respect to an individual, a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities of such individual; a record of such impairment; or being regarded as having such an impairment. Major life activities include, but are not limited to, caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, seeing, hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating, and working. A major life activity also includes the operation of a major bodily function, including but not limited to, functions of the immune system, normal



cell growth, digestive, bowel, bladder, neurological, brain, respiratory, circulatory, endocrine, and reproductive functions. An individual meets the requirement of “being regarded as having such an impairment” if the individual establishes that he or she has been subjected to an action prohibited by law because of an actual or perceived physical or mental impairment whether or not the impairment limits or is perceived to limit a major life activity. An individual will not be regarded as having such an impairment when the impairment is transitory and minor. A transitory impairment is an impairment with an actual or expected duration of 6 months or less. An impairment that is episodic or in remission is a disability if it would substantially limit a major life activity when active. For further definition, please see the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended.

Downzoning - An effort to change zoning to reduce permitted density of housing and development.

Elderly – see definition of Older Persons.

ENERGY STAR - Energy efficient designation that must be obtained in order to utilize the Energy Star Utility Allowances published on the THDA website.

Evaluation Notice – A notice provided by THDA to request clarification or additional information related to a requested status report on the development, Final Application, quarterly construction report, or certified property management application; during an on-site inspection of the property during construction, after the buildings are placed in service or during the term of the Extended Use Agreement; or other compliance concern identified by THDA in its sole discretion. Failure to respond to successive Evaluation Notices by the Final deadline allows THDA, in its sole discretion, to return or reject the application, recapture the allocation, or issue an event of noncompliance under the terms of the Extended Use Agreement.

Extended Use Agreement – Also known as the Declaration of Land Use Restrictive Covenants for Low-Income Housing Tax Credits (“LURC”), is the agreement executed between THDA and Owner. The LURC:

1. Is binding on Owner and all successors of Owner;
2. Requires the Housing Credit Development to comply with the requirements of Section 42, the Qualified Allocation Plan, the Application, and THDA;
3. Evidences Applicant’s federal election and any requirements pursuant to Applicant’s scoring elections in the Initial Application;
4. Requires that the applicable fraction for each building for each taxable year during the term of the LURC will not be less than the applicable fraction specified the LURC;
5. Prohibits the eviction or termination of the tenancy (except for good cause) of an existing low-income resident or any increase in the gross rent with respect to a low-income unit that is not otherwise permitted;
6. Allows individuals who meet the income limitation applicable to the building (whether prospective, present, or former occupants of the building) the right to enforce in any State court the rights under (1) and (2) above;
7. Prohibits the disposition to any person of any portion of the building to which the LURC applies, unless all of the building to which the LURC applies is disposed of to such person;
8. Prohibits the refusal to lease to a holder of a voucher or certificate of eligibility under Section 8 of the United States Housing Act of 1937 because of the status of the prospective resident as such a holder;
9. Is recorded in the real property records of the county in which the Housing Credit Development is located as a restrictive covenant running with the land; and
10. Commences on the first day of the Compliance Period for a term of at least thirty (30) years (the “Extended Use Period”).



Existing Multifamily Housing - A multifamily development that will preserve affordable housing units that are rent and income restricted or, through rehabilitation of units that were not previously affordable, create affordable housing units.

Federal Election - For purposes of MTBA; the federal election is the minimum set-aside requirement found under Section 142(d) of the Code; where a certain percentage of the units are designed low income and must be qualified by households earning no more than the associated income limit. For purposes of Noncompetitive Housing Credits; the federal election or test is the minimum set-aside requirement found under Section 42(g)(1) of the Code; where a certain percentage of the units are designed low income and must be qualified by households earning no more than the associated income limit. In the MTBA Program Description; applicants will be held to the federal election required for Noncompetitive Housing Credits.

Final Application – The application and all related documentation required when a Housing Credit Development is to be placed in service and for which IRS Forms 8609 are sought.

Firm 42(m) Letter – A letter issued by THDA to Applicants seeking a determination of 4% Housing Credit in conjunction with a commitment of Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority.

Grand Divisions – the East, Middle, and West Grand Divisions of Tennessee as described in Tennessee Code Annotated Title 4, Chapter 1, Part 2

Hard Cost - Costs that include expenses directly related to the physical construction of a building such as construction materials and construction labor.

Housing Credit – Low-Income Housing Credit as described in Section 42 of the Code.

Housing Credit Development – the proposed or existing rental housing development for which Housing Credit has been applied for or allocated.

Housing for Older Persons – Housing (i) intended for, and solely occupied by, persons age 62 or older; or (ii) where 80% of the units must be occupied by at least one person age 55 years or older, or (iii) provided for under any state or federal program that HUD has determined is specifically designed and operated to assist older persons (as defined in the state or federal program).

HUD – The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development.

HUD - The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development.

Incentive Fee - A potentially refundable fee charged to provide an incentive to issue and close the sale of MTBA.

Inducement Resolution – A resolution of the local issuing entity authorizing issuance of tax-exempt bonds by the local issuing entity to finance the proposed development.

Initial Application – The application submitted by an Applicant seeking an allocation of Housing Credit, including, without limitation, all information and documents entered into THOMAS.

IRS – Internal Revenue Service.



Issuer Certification – A certificate provided by a local issuer certifying willingness to issue tax-exempt bonds to finance a proposed development in a form and with substance as shown on the THOMAS Documents Page.

Local Government Notification - Following receipt of Initial Applications, THDA will notify the chief executive officer (or the equivalent) of the local government in whose jurisdiction a development proposed in an Initial Application is to be located. Such individual will have an opportunity to comment on the development proposed in the Initial Application to be located in the jurisdiction, as required by Section 42(m)(1)(A)(ii).

Market Study - An analysis of the market conditions of supply, demand and pricing for a specific property type in specific areas.

Modification - Changes to buildings, units, square footage, scoring items, etc. that determine eligibility for a commitment of MTBA and an allocation of Noncompetitive Housing Credits.

MTBA – Multifamily Tax-Exempt Bond Authority.

No Further Monitoring Status – Housing Credit Developments that are outside of the Section 42 defined Compliance Period that have failed to respond to and/or cure notices for monitoring reviews, non-submittal of annual compliance reports, and noncompliance with program requirements for 180 days from the date THDA provides the notice of noncompliance. Ineligibility will continue until the noncompliance is cured or the LURC expires.

Noncompetitive Housing Credits – 4% Housing Credits made available to qualified developments, subject to the requirements of this MTBA Program Description, when at least the statutorily required portion of the aggregate basis of the building and the land on which the building is located is financed with tax-exempt bonds using MTBA.

Other Sources of Funds – sources of funding not related to deferred developer fee or owner capital contributions, or other permanent contributions that do not require repayment. Examples of Other Sources of Funds include, without limitation, grants from THDA or local governments, grants from local trust funds, and grants from philanthropic foundations. PILOT commitments from a local government, operating subsidies, uncommitted “soft pay” loans, and construction period income will not be considered as Other Sources of Funds.

Owner - The single purpose legal entity (e.g. Corporation, Limited Partnership, Limited Liability Partnership) holding title to the Site.

Public Housing Authority (“PHA”) – A public housing authority created under the Housing Authorities Law, Tennessee Code Annotated Section 13-20-101, et seq.

Physical Needs Assessment – A report prepared by licensed third party provider which contains detailed information about physical needs, deficiencies (including major systems, life safety, and ADA needs) and the capital needs requirements of existing buildings, including a detailed work plan showing all necessary and contemplated improvements and projected costs.

Private Activity Bond - Tax-exempt bonds issued by or on behalf of local or state government for the purpose of providing financing for qualified projects.



Qualified Allocation Plan (“QAP”) – The document prepared pursuant to Section 42(m) of the Code that details THDA’s priorities, process, and requirements regarding the Housing Credit program.

Qualified Census Tract (“QCT”) - Any census tract identified by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development for the most recent year for which census data are available on household income in such tract. The list is available here: <https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/qct.html>.

Qualified Low Income Buildings - Any building that is part of a Qualified Residential Rental Project at all times during the period which runs from the first day of the Compliance Period and ends on the last day of the Compliance Period.

Qualified Low Income Development - See Qualified Low Income Project

Qualified Low Income Project - Any residential rental property if the project meets the requirements of Section 42 of the Code.

Qualified Low Income Units - Any unit that is occupied by a qualified low income household and is part of a low income housing project at all times during the period that runs from the first day of the Compliance Period and ends on the last day of the Compliance Period.

Qualified Nonprofit Organization - An organization that is described in Section 501(c)(3) or (4) of the Code that is exempt from tax under Section 501(a) of the Code, and that meets the requirements contained in Section 7 of the QAP.

Qualified Residential Rental Projects - As required by Section 142, any residential rental property that meets the Federal Election Test at all times during the Qualified Project Period.

Qualified Project Period - As required by Section 142, the period beginning on the first day on which 10% of the residential units in the project are occupied and ending on the latest of;

1. The date that is 15 years after the date on which 50% of the residential units in the project are occupied,
2. The first day on which no tax exempt private activity bond issued with respect to the project is outstanding, or
3. The date on which any assistance provided with respect to the project under Section 8 of the United States Housing Act of 1937 terminates.

Related Parties – In relation to the Initial Application, any subsequent application or any request for a Modification, related parties include, the Applicant, developer, Owner, entities with commonality of one or more persons with those listed in the Ownership Entity Breakdown, entities with commonality of one or more persons with those listed in the Developer Entity Breakdown, and any of the following:

- a. Any person or entity who has a right to (i) replace the developer, (ii) act as co-developer, (iii) replace any individuals or entities who comprise a developer or co-developer, or (iv) otherwise direct the activities of the developer will be considered a developer for purposes of applying this limit.
- b. Any person or entity who has a right to (i) replace the general partner of the Owner or Applicant, (ii) act as co-general partner of the Owner or Applicant, (iii) replace any individuals or entities who comprise a general partner or co-general partner of the Owner or Applicant, or (iv) otherwise direct the activities of the general partner of the Owner or Applicant will be considered an Owner or Applicant, as the case may be, for purposes of applying this limit.



- c. Any person or entity who has a right to (i) replace the controlling stockholder of the Owner or Applicant, (ii) act as controlling stockholder of Owner or Applicant, (iii) replace any individuals or entities who comprise a controlling stockholder of the Owner or Applicant, or (iv) otherwise direct the activities of the controlling stockholder of the Owner or Applicant will be considered an Owner or Applicant, as the case may be, for purposes of applying this limit.
- d. Any person or entity who has a right to (i) replace the managing member of the Owner or Applicant, (ii) act as co-managing member of the Owner or Applicant, (iii) replace any individuals or entities who comprise a managing member or co-managing member of the Owner or Applicant, or (iv) otherwise direct the activities of the managing member of the Owner or Applicant will be considered an Owner or Applicant, as the case may be, for purposes of applying this limit.
- e. Any person who is a signatory or guarantor of construction financing documents, permanent financing documents, and/or equity syndication documents.
- f. This limit will also apply to any person or entity that is related to any person or entity specified above.

Rural - Counties identified as rural on the THOMAS Documents Page.

Section 42 – Section 42 of the Code, as amended, together with all subsequent legislation duly enacted by the Congress of the United States affecting Section 42, all United States Treasury Regulations in effect with respect thereto (including regulations first promulgated under previous versions of the Code) and all revenue procedures, revenue rulings, or other published determinations of the Treasury Department or the Internal Revenue Service of the United States applicable to Section 42.

Significant Adverse Event (“SAE”) – An occurrence of noncompliance (curable or incurable), program fraud or misrepresentation, or an act that adversely conflicts with THDA’s mission as described in Section ~~6-5~~ of the QAP.

Site – A parcel of land on which the MTBA Development will be developed, described by a unique legal description.

Special Housing Needs – Housing needs served by housing that has been constructed or rehabilitated with special features (e.g. location, design, layout, or on-site services) to help people live at the highest level of independence in the community. For example, the unit may be adapted to accommodate special physical or medical needs; or provide on-site services such as staff support for older persons, individuals with mental health issues, developmental, or other social needs.

Supplemental MTBA – an allocation of THDA MTBA made to a development that has already received an allocation of MTBA, but has not yet placed in service, required to ensure that the 50% threshold as described in Section 42(h)(4)(B) of the Code to qualify for federal 4% Housing Credit can be met.

Supportive Services – Furnished through a contract with supportive service providers to provide Supportive Services, appropriate for a particular special needs population, under a planned program of services. In the case of persons with disabilities or housing for older persons, such services may be designed to enable residents of a Housing Credit Development to remain independent and avoid placement in a hospital, nursing home, or intermediate-care facility.

Supportive Services for Older Persons – Must include at least two of the following services: social and recreational programs, continuing education, information and counseling, recreation, homemaker, outside maintenance and referral services, an accessible physical environment, emergency and preventive health



care programs, congregate dining facilities, or transportation to facilitate access to social services and facilities available to them.

Suburban - Counties identified as suburban on the THOMAS Documents Page.

Tennessee Growth Policy Act – Tennessee Code Annotated Section 6-68-101 et seq. that requires growth plans approved by the Tennessee Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations. Information available here: <https://www.tn.gov/tacir/tennessee-county-growth-plans.html>.

TEFRA Hearing - The public hearing required by the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 (“TEFRA”).

THOMAS Documents Page - A webpage with necessary forms, templates, guidance, calendar, and links that are utilized through all application submission cycles. The THOMAS Documents Page is incorporated into this MTBA Program Description by this reference as if set forth in this MTBA Program Description verbatim.

THOMAS - The Tennessee Housing Online Management and Application System for all applications involving Housing Credits.

THOMAS User Manual - THDA provided document that gives guidance on the registration and application submission cycles in the THOMAS System. The THOMAS User Manual is incorporated into this QAP by this reference as if set forth in this QAP verbatim.

Total Development Cost - The total of actual costs associated with new construction or rehabilitation development activities, as determined to be reasonable by THDA, in its sole discretion.

Twining - Combining Competitive and Noncompetitive Housing Credits within the same development proposal and within the same Initial Application.

Visitability - Design requirements implementing features that make a home accessible, visitable and convenient for everyone. MTBA developments are required to meet Visitability design requirements when the proposed development includes single family units, duplexes, triplexes and townhomes. To meet Visitability design requirements the proposed development must include:

1. Easy Access with a step free entrance of not more than ½ inch from a driveway, sidewalk or other firm surface into the main floor of the home, and;
2. Easy Passage throughout the home with an exterior door that provides a minimum of 32 inches of clear passage (36 inches is preferable) from the step free entrance. All interior passage doorways on the main floor also provide a minimum of 32 inches of clear passage, and;
3. Easy Use with a main floor that includes a kitchen, some entertainment area, at least one (1) bedroom and one (1) full bathroom. The full bathroom will provide at least 30 inches by 48 inches of maneuvering space that allows easy access to the sink, commode and shower or tub.

Uniform Physical Conditional Standards (“UPCS”) - The HUD requirements that govern the physical condition of Housing Credit Developments.

Urban - Counties identified as urban on the THOMAS Documents Page.

Urbanicity - The quality or fact of (an area) being urban. The degree to which a given geographical area is urban. Urbanicity designations can be found on the THOMAS Documents Page.



USDA Rural Development - The United States Department of Agriculture's Rural Development housing programs.

Zoning - Written documentation from the appropriate local government authority demonstrating that current zoning and other local land use regulations permit the development as proposed or that no such regulations currently apply to the proposed development in an application for a commitment of MTBA and an allocation of Noncompetitive Housing Credits.



Section 3: Program Eligibility

A. Use of MTBA

Applicants applying for MTBA must demonstrate that a minimum of 50% of the outstanding principal amount of tax-exempt bonds originally issued using an award of MTBA will remain outstanding as of the placed in service date for the development. On the placed in service date, the outstanding principal amount of tax-exempt bonds originally issued using an award of MTBA must meet the requirements of Section 42(h)(4). Either Bond Counsel or a Certified Public Accountant licensed in Tennessee must certify to THDA that this financing requirement is met.

Recipients of a MTBA Firm Commitment Letter must close, issue and sell bonds no later than 11:59 PM Central Time on the closing deadline specified in the MTBA Firm Commitment Letter and must meet all federal tax requirements for Private Activity Bonds.

B. Eligible Developments

1. The proposed development must be:
 - a. New construction of multifamily housing;
 - b. Adaptive Reuse/Conversion of an existing property not currently being used for housing; or
 - c. Acquisition and rehabilitation of Existing Multifamily Housing.
2. The proposed development must meet the following requirements:
 - a. Be a Qualified Low Income Development, containing Qualified Low Income Buildings and Qualified Low Income Units.
 - b. Comply with the Fair Housing Act design and construction requirements for units that are considered “covered multifamily dwellings” designed and constructed for “for first occupancy” after March 13, 1991, using one of HUD’s recognized safe harbors.
 - c. Comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), as applicable.
 - d. Comply with all applicable local building codes or State adopted building codes in the absence of local building codes.
 - e. Certification from the design architect will be required following the issuance of the MTBA Firm Commitment Letter. Confirmation from the supervising architect will be required prior to any refund of the Incentive Fee as described in Section 11.
3. In order to participate in Group ~~3-2~~ or Group ~~6-5~~ (as described in Section 9.~~BA~~.3), or participate in Group ~~C-A~~ or Group ~~F-G~~ (as described in Section 9.~~DB~~.1), the PHA must be included in the Owner and must materially participate (within the meaning of Section 469(h) of the Code) in the development and operation of the project throughout the compliance period as defined in Section 42.
4. All applicants must waive the ability to participate in the qualified contract request process as described in THDA’s Qualified Contract Process Guidelines, as may be amended (available here: <https://thda.org/pdf/06.01.20-QUALIFIED-CONTRACT-GUIDELINES-REVISED-FOR-VENDOR-NEEDS.pdf>).
5. Initial Applications proposing new construction or Adaptive Reuse/Conversion must include the following:
 - a. Written documentation sufficient to satisfy the requirements of Section ~~136~~.A.3 of the ~~2023~~ 2024 QAP; and
 - b. Documentation that developments proposing single family units, duplexes, or triplexes meet Visitability design requirements. An architect’s certification will be required at Final Application prior to the issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) and prior to any refund of the Incentive Fee as described in Section 11.

C. Eligibility Documentation



An Initial Application shall include each of the following:

1. A Market Study sufficient to satisfy the requirements of Section ~~13.6~~.A.5 of the ~~2022-2023~~ 2023-2024 QAP.
2. An Appraisal of the land and buildings sufficient to satisfy the requirements of Section 13.A.6 of the ~~2022-2023~~ 2023-2024 QAP
3. A Physical Needs Assessment of the proposed rehabilitation activities proposed for an Existing Multifamily Development sufficient to satisfy the requirements of Section ~~14.B.2~~ of the ~~2022-2023~~ 2023-2024 QAP
4. A Statement of Application and Certification from the ownership entity in the form and with the substance as shown on the THOMAS Documents Page.
5. A Bond Purchase Agreement Summary Letter fully executed by the bond purchaser in the form and with the substance as shown on the THOMAS Documents Page.
6. A Bond Opinion Letter provided by Bond Counsel certifying that the cost of issuance will be no more than 2% of the original outstanding principal amount of tax-exempt bonds sold to finance the proposed development in a form and with substance as shown on the THOMAS Documents Page.
7. An Issuer Certification.
8. An Inducement Resolution reflecting a MTBA amount no less than the MTBA amount requested in the Initial Application.
9. Evidence of the TEFRA Hearing.
10. Supporting documents should be dated no earlier than 6 months prior to the applicable application deadline, unless otherwise specified in the PD.

D. Eligible Development Team Members

THDA prefers Development Teams ~~that who~~ have successful ~~experience in~~ experience in Tennessee ~~with THDA's~~ MTBA and/or Housing Credit ~~program~~ experience. ~~Successful Tennessee MTBA and/or Housing Credit~~ Such experience is evidenced by successful construction ~~on org or rehabilitate~~ on org or rehabilitate ~~and the placing in service of~~ ing a recent ~~affordable multifamily housing development~~ Housing Credit Development that used MTBA and/or Housing Credit, maintaining a good track record in the development and on-going operations of the ~~Housing Credit De~~ velopment, and evidencing the capacity to sustain the development in the ever changing regulatory and rental market. ~~Consequently, an Initial Application for MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credit is ineligible under this Program Description when, as of date of the Initial Application, a Development Team, or any individual identified in the Initial Application as a member of the Development Team, has, with respect to any prior Housing Credit Development, incurred and failed to cure any and all Major SAE(s) that have occurred since January 1, 2019 or is otherwise ineligible based on any other event listed under Other Ineligibility (below).~~

1. ~~Applications for MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits shall be ineligible under this MTBA Program Description when, as of the Initial Application date, a Development Team or individual members of a Development Team identified in the Initial Application have incurred and failed to cure any and all of the following Major SAE(s) that occurred since January 1, 2019:~~ Major SAEs.
 - a. The General Partner/Managing Member/Sole Stockholder being removed from the ownership entity of a prior Housing Credit Development;
 - a-b. Returning Housing Credits due to the development not being able to meet its targeted place in service deadline, and requesting THDA to approve and make an Exchange of Credit Allocation. (No Major SAE will be imposed when THDA determines that an Exchange was necessitated by circumstances beyond the Applicant's anticipation or control);
 - b-c. An uncured event of default under the Section 1602 or Tax Credit Assistance Programs;
 - d. A Fair Housing Act violation, which resulted in a finding of discrimination by an adverse final



~~decision from HUD, an equivalent state or local fair housing agency, or a federal or state court including those involving a finding of discrimination by an adverse final decision from a federal court or a complaints that results in a consent decree or a judgement enforcing the terms of a consent decree;~~

- ~~e.e.~~ A foreclosure occurring after December 31, 2019~~8~~ and involving the loss of units from the affordable housing stock or failure to notify THDA of foreclosure (including a deed in lieu of foreclosure transaction);
- ~~e.f.~~ Submitting to the IRS an IRS Form 8609 that was not created by THDA or submitting to the IRS an IRS Form 8609 that has been altered or contains information inconsistent with the IRS Form 8609 created by THDA;
- ~~e.g.~~ Failure to meet the federal placed in service deadline for a development that received Housing Credits; ~~or; or~~
- ~~f.a.~~ A development that received Housing Credits being placed in “No Further Monitoring” status by THDA; ~~or~~
- ~~g.a.~~ Uncured noncompliance; ~~or~~
- ~~h.a.~~ Program fraud or misrepresentation; ~~or~~
- ~~h.~~ Other a Actions that adversely conflict with THDA’s mission.

2. Other Ineligibility. An Initial Applications for MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits ~~shall~~ is also ~~be~~ ineligible under this MTBA Program Description ~~if when, as of the Initial Application date,~~ any of the following apply: ~~to a Development Team or individual members of a Development Team identified in the Initial Application:~~

- a. Any individual involved, either directly or indirectly, with the developer, development entity, owner, ownership entity, or a related party, whether formed or to be formed, involved in the Initial Application has any one of the following:
 - i. A felony conviction of any type within the last ten (10) years; ~~or~~
 - ii. A fine, suspension or debarment involving financial or housing activities within the last five (5) years imposed by any state or federal agency; ~~or~~
 - iii. A current bankruptcy or a bankruptcy discharged within the last four (4) years or any organization or entity in which the individual had significant control currently is in bankruptcy or had a bankruptcy discharged within the last four (4) years. An individual bankruptcy of a member of the board of directors of an entity that is, or is wholly controlled by, a government entity will not be grounds for ineligibility provided that the individual certifies that he/she will not have substantial decision making authority with regard to the proposed development;
 - ~~iv. Individual bankruptcy of a member of the board of directors of an entity that is, or is wholly controlled by, a government entity will not be grounds for ineligibility provided that the individual certifies that he/she will not have substantial decision making authority with regard to the proposed development; or~~
 - v. ~~Any suspensions of required state licenses (Tennessee or any other state) within the last ten (10) years.~~
 - ~~ivb. A suspension of a required state license (Tennessee or any other state) within the last ten (10) years regarding an individual or any entity that individual is/was involved in at the time of the suspension;~~
 - v. An individual currently involved with the developer, development entity, owner, ownership entity, related parties or individuals involved (either directly or indirectly) with the developer, the ownership entity, or related parties (whether formed or to be formed) identified in the Initial Application is currently participating Involvement in a pre-2024 Housing Credit D—MTBA—development with a first allocation of



Noncompetitive Housing Credit in Tennessee – prior to THDA – the issuance/issuing of IRS Form(s) 8609 for that development;:

- ve. Involvement in a pre-2024 Housing Credit Development with a first allocation of Noncompetitive Housing Credits in Tennessee that has not placed in service;
- vi. Involvement in a proposed Housing Credit Development that An individual currently involved with the developer, development entity, owner, ownership entity, related parties or individuals involved (either directly or indirectly) with the developer, the ownership entity, or related parties (whether formed or to be formed) identified in the Initial Application and who is involved with another Housing Credit Development in Tennessee that has participated in the Qualified Contract Process since January 1, 2022.3;
- ~~ed.~~ An individual currently involved with the developer, development entity, owner, ownership entity, related parties or individuals involved (either directly or indirectly) with the developer, the ownership entity, or related parties (whether formed or to be formed) identified in the Initial Application is currently participating in a pre-2023 2024 Housing Credit Development with a first allocation of Competitive Housing Credits in Tennessee for which THDA has not closed the sale of the MTBA.
- ~~de.~~ An individual currently involved with the developer, development entity, owner, ownership entity, related parties or individuals involved (either directly or indirectly) with the developer, the ownership entity, or related parties (whether formed or to be formed) identified in the Initial Application that received an allocation of MTBA in 2022but-2023, but failed to issue and sell bonds by the expiration date (original or extended) of the MTBA Firm Commitment Letter and the MTBA Firm Commitment Letter was not released as described in Section 11-G of this MTBA Program Description;:-
- vii. Involvement in another Housing Credit Development in Tennessee that has participated in the Qualified Contract Process since January 1, 2019;
- viii. Involvement in a Housing Credit Development that has uncured noncompliance;
- ix. Involvement in a Housing Credit Development that has been placed in “No Further Monitoring” status by THDA;
- x. Involvement in a Housing Credit Development where misrepresentation or fraud occurred;
- xi. Involvement in a Housing Credit Development receiving an allocation of Competitive or Noncompetitive Housing Credits since January 1, 2014 that:
 - a). Accepted any Housing Credit Development with an accepted Reservation Notice, but the proposed Housing Credit development failed to meet the federal allocation timeframes and did not obtain a Carryover Allocation Agreement; or
 - b). Had ~~aii.~~ Any Housing Credit Development with a fully executed Carryover Allocation Agreement, but the proposed Housing Credit development failed to meet the federal allocation timeframes and did not obtain IRS Form(s) 8609; or
 - iii. Any Housing Credit development for which THDA issued IRS Form(s) 8609, but the Housing Credit development c). Failed to meet the minimum set-aside test for low-income tenants as specified in the LURCA by the end of the first year of the Credit Period; or
 - d). iv. Any Housing Credit development that THDA Was determined to be in violation of the requirements of the applicable –QAP –regarding developer or related party issues; or
 - v. Any Housing Credit development that e). Involved a “broker” who did not remain involved in the Initial Application through the closing of permanent financing for the Housing Credit Development; or



- ~~f). Did vi.—Any Housing Credit development that did not meet the requirements of the applicable QAP regarding submission of -permanent financing documentation to THDA; or~~
- ~~g). vii. Any Housing Credit development thatI—involved a “consultant” who was determined to be a signatory of construction financing, permanent financing, or equity syndications documents or provided a guaranty in connection with construction financing, permanent financing or equity syndication; or~~
- ~~viii. Any MTBA Applicationh). †That received a firm commitment of bond authority, but failed to meet the established deadline for issuance and sale of the bonds. Voluntary withdrawal of a MTBA Application in accordance with all applicable program requirements will not cause ineligibility.; or~~

b. There is pending or threatened litigation with regard to (i) an entity or individual that is involved in the Initial Application; (ii) an entity or individual that will be involved in the Ownership Entity; or (iii) any other aspect of the proposed project, where THDA determines that the existence of such could be detrimental to the success or feasibility of the project. This does not include cases merely arising from opposition to the development of the Project.

c. A development that received Housing Credits being placed in “No Further Monitoring” status by THDA; or

Uncured noncompliance; or

Program fraud or misrepresentation; or

~~ef. If any of the following are true regarding an individual previously or currently involved with the developer, development entity, owner, ownership entity, related parties or individuals involved (either directly or indirectly) with the developer, the ownership entity, or related parties (whether formed or to be formed) identified in the Initial Application for MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits for any development receiving an allocation of Competitive or Noncompetitive Housing Credits since January 1, 2018:~~

- ~~i. Any Housing Credit Development with an accepted Reservation Notice, but the proposed Housing Credit development failed to meet the federal allocation timeframes and did not obtain a Carryover Allocation Agreement; or~~
- ~~ii. Any Housing Credit Development with a fully executed Carryover Allocation Agreement, but the proposed Housing Credit development failed to meet the federal allocation timeframes and did not obtain IRS Form(s) 8609; or~~
- ~~iii. Any Housing Credit development for which THDA issued IRS Form(s) 8609, but the Housing Credit development failed to meet the minimum set aside test for low income tenants as specified in the LURA by the end of the first year of the Credit Period; or~~
- ~~iv. Any Housing Credit development that THDA determined to be in violation of the requirements of the applicable QAP regarding developer or related party issues; or~~
- ~~v. Any Housing Credit development that involved a “broker” who did not remain involved in the Initial Application through the closing of permanent financing for the Housing Credit development; or~~
- ~~vi. Any Housing Credit development that did not meet the requirements of the applicable QAP regarding submission of permanent financing documentation to THDA; or~~
- ~~vii. Any Housing Credit development that involved a “consultant” who was determined to be a signatory of construction financing, permanent financing or equity syndications documents or provided a guaranty in connection with construction financing, permanent financing or equity syndication; or~~



~~viii. Any MTBA Application that received a firm commitment of bond authority but failed to meet the established deadline for issuance and sale of the bonds. Voluntary withdrawal of a MTBA Application in accordance with all applicable program requirements will not cause ineligibility;~~
~~or~~

~~ix. The application is deemed ineligible pursuant to any other provisions of this MTBA Program Description.~~

3. Requests for Relief

~~Prohibition of an individual's participation in programs administered by the Multifamily Programs Division in Tennessee shall~~The ineligibility of an Initial Application under this MTBA Program Description is determined by Multifamily Programs staff. ~~The Development Team of an Initial Application deemed ineligible hereunder~~Any individual prohibited due to a Major SAE may appeal the determination to ~~the THDA's~~ Executive Director and ~~the THDA's~~ Board Chair. The determination of ~~prohibition shall be~~ineligibility is at the sole discretion of the ~~THDA~~ Executive Director and the ~~THDA~~ Board Chair and ~~is~~shall not be appealable to ~~the THDA's~~ Board of Directors, ~~or the Tax Credit Committee of the THDA Board.~~

E. ~~E.~~—Identity of Interests

If an application for MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits involves acquisition of land or buildings, the requirements specified in Section 42(d)(2) of the Code shall apply.

F. Extended Use Agreements - LURC

A LURC is required for developments using MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits. THDA will provide a LURC based on the terms and elections under Section 142(d) of the Code, Section 42(g)(1) of the Code, the QAP, and this MTBA Program Description. The LURC must be executed and recorded in the county where the development is located. The original LURC must be returned to THDA no later than the date specified in the MTBA Firm Commitment Letter.



Section 4: Federal Election

- A. Section 142(d) of the Code requires that Qualified Residential Rental Projects have income restrictions on a percentage of the Qualified Low Income Units at all times during the Qualified Project Period. One of the following Federal Elections shall be made in the Initial Application for a MTBA Firm Commitment Letter. This election is irrevocable once made in the Initial Application:
1. 20/50 Test; or
 2. 40/60 Test; or.
 3. Average Income Test (only available to proposed developments with noncompetitive Housing Credit).
- B. Developments involving rehabilitation of Existing Multifamily Housing with a prior Housing Credit allocation are restricted to the prior Federal Election.



Section 5: Program Limits

A. MTBA Available

1. THDA will make a total of ~~\$423,080,500~~[AMOUNT] of MTBA available in early ~~2023~~2024.
2. Of the [AMOUNT], ~~2.~~—THDA will first make \$35,650,000 available to the Tursky-Hollway “bundled” USDA Rural Development Deal previously awarded in 2023.
3. Additionally, THDA may reserve an additional amount ~~t~~to be determined based on anticipated MTBA requests associated with up to two (2) “Twinning” deals, as outlined in the 2024 Qualified Allocation Plan. ~~anticipates having a second round, subject to availability.~~
4. THDA anticipates having two rounds, subject to availability.

A.B. Maximum MTBA Per Development

1. **New Construction and Adaptive Reuse/Conversion**

Applications proposing New Construction or Adaptive Reuse/Conversion may not receive more MTBA than **the lesser of:**

- a. FORTY ~~THREE EIGHT~~ MILLION AND 00/100 DOLLARS (~~\$4348,000,000.00~~); or
- b. 60% of the Development’s aggregate basis including land, with all previous phases of the same development included in the aggregate basis.

2. **Rehabilitation**

All expenditures for Limited Rehabilitation, Moderate Rehabilitation, or Substantial Rehabilitation must satisfy all requirements of Section 42(e)(3)(A)(ii) of the Code and all of the following as applicable:

- a. **Limited Rehabilitation** may not receive more MTBA than **the lesser of:**
 - i. ~~THIRTEEN FIFTEEN~~ MILLION AND 00/100 ~~SEVEN HUNDRED THOUSAND~~ DOLLARS (~~\$13,715,000,000.00~~); or
 - ii. 60% of the Development’s aggregate basis including land, with all previous phases of the same development included in the aggregate basis.
- b. Developments proposing **Limited Rehabilitation** must be rehabilitated so that, upon completion of all rehabilitation, rehabilitation hard costs must be no less than the greatest of 20% of building acquisition cost or SIX THOUSAND AND 00/100 DOLLARS (\$6,000.00) per unit. The rehabilitation scope of work must include, at a minimum, all work specified in the Physical Needs Assessment along with corrective actions for all deficiencies noted, with regard to interior and exterior common areas, interior and exterior painting and/or power washing, gutters, parking areas, sidewalks, fencing, landscaping, and mailboxes and the replacement of exterior that is 90% or more vinyl with brick/stone veneer, stucco or fiber cement or hardiplank. The replacement of any of these components of the buildings or the site with a Remaining Useful Life of Less than 15 years, must be included in the scope of work as specified using the Fannie Mae Estimated Useful Life Table. Substantially the same scope of work in all units is required, including, without limitation, painting of the entire unit, consistent flooring throughout the development and matching cabinetry within each unit. Certification from the design architect is required following the issuance of the MTBA Firm Commitment



Letter. Confirmation from the supervising architect is required prior to any partial refund of the Incentive Fee pursuant to Section 11.

- c. Developments proposing **Moderate Rehabilitation** may not receive more MTBA than **the lesser of:**
 - i. ~~SIXTEEN EIGHTEEN~~ MILLION AND 00/100 DOLLARS (~~\$1618,000,000.00~~); or
 - ii. 60% of the Development's aggregate basis including land, with all previous phases of the same development included in the aggregate basis.
- d. Developments proposing **Moderate Rehabilitation** must be rehabilitated so that, upon completion of all rehabilitation, rehabilitation hard costs must be no less than the greatest of 25% of building acquisition cost or seven thousand dollars (\$7,000) per unit. The rehabilitation scope of work must include, at a minimum, the scope of work as outlined in the Limited Rehabilitation requirements above, all appliances in all units Energy-Star compliant, and all work specified in the Physical Needs Assessment along with corrective actions for deficiencies noted, with regard to drywall, carpet, tile, interior and exterior paint, the electrical system, heating and air conditioning systems, roof, windows, interior and exterior doors, stairwells, handrails, and mailboxes. The replacement of any of these components of buildings or the site with a Remaining Useful Life of less than 15 years must be included as specified using the Fannie Mae Estimated Useful Life Table. It is expected that substantially the same scope of work in all units including painting of the entire unit, consistent flooring throughout the development and matching cabinetry within each unit is accomplished during the rehabilitation. Certification from the design architect is required following the issuance of the MTBA Firm Commitment Letter. Confirmation from the supervising architect is required prior to any partial refund of the Incentive Fee pursuant to Section 11 of this MTBA Program Description.
- e. Developments proposing **Substantial Rehabilitation** may not receive more MTBA than **the lesser of:**
 - i. TWENTY ~~FIVE EIGHT~~ MILLION AND 00/100 DOLLARS (~~\$2528,000,000.00~~); or
 - ii. 60% of the Development's aggregate basis including land, with all previous phases of the same development included in the aggregate basis.
- f. Developments proposing **Substantial Rehabilitation** must be rehabilitated so that, upon completion of all rehabilitation, rehabilitation hard costs must be no less than the greatest of 30% of building acquisition costs or eleven thousand dollars (\$11,000) per unit. The rehabilitation scope of work must include, at a minimum, scope of work as outlined in the Limited Rehabilitation and Moderate Rehabilitation requirements above, as described in the Physical Needs Assessment along with corrective actions for all deficiencies noted, and the major building systems will not require further substantial rehabilitation for a period of at least fifteen (15) years from the required placed in service date. The replacement of any component of buildings or the site with a Remaining Useful Life of less than 15 years must be included in the scope of work as specified using the Fannie Mae Estimated Useful Life Table. Substantially the same scope of work is required in all units including, without limitation, painting the entire unit, consistent flooring throughout the development and matching cabinetry within each unit. Certification from the design architect is required following the issuance of the MTBA Firm Commitment Letter. Confirmation from the supervising architect is required prior to any partial refund of the Incentive Fee pursuant to Section 11 of this MTBA Program Description.

3. Requests for Exceptions



An applicant may submit a written request for an exception to the maximum MTBA amount listed in this Section 5-~~BA~~. The written request must include sufficient supporting documentation and information to substantiate the need for additional MTBA. Only one (1) written request for an exception to the maximum MTBA and/or Noncompetitive Housing Credit limit per application will be considered. Written requests for exceptions to the maximum MTBA and/or Noncompetitive Housing Credit limit, and the amount of any requested additional assistance, may be granted or denied by THDA's Multifamily Programs Division staff, in its sole discretion.

B. Maximum Amount of MTBA per Developer or Related Parties

1. Prior to July 1, ~~2023~~2024, the maximum amount of MTBA that may be committed to a single applicant, developer, owner, or Related Parties shall not exceed SIXTY-~~SIX~~ MILLION AND 00/100 DOLLARS (~~\$6066,000,000.00~~). After June 30, ~~2023~~2024, the maximum amount of MTBA that may be committed to a single applicant, developer, owner, or Related Parties shall not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the maximum amount of MTBA available for ~~2023~~2024. THDA will determine, in its sole discretion, if Related Parties are involved and apply this limitation.
2. MTBA may not be transferred among multiple developments involving the same applicant, developer, owner, or Related Parties.

C. Limit on Developer's Fee for MTBA with Noncompetitive Housing Credits

1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section ~~3-H11-F~~ of the QAP, the sum of developer and consultant fees reflected in THOMAS on the development costs page may not exceed 25% of total development costs (less cash reserves and the claimed developer fee). See Section C.6. below.
2. If the sum of developer and consultant fees reflected in the development costs worksheet exceeds the amount allowable for related or unrelated parties (see 2 and 3 below), then all developer and consultant fees in excess of the amount allowable for related and unrelated parties (see 2 and 3 below) must be reflected as deferred fees and included in the sources of permanent financing.
3. If the developer and the contractor are **unrelated**, the *non-deferred* developer and consultant fees cannot exceed 15% on the portion of the basis attributable to acquisition (before the addition of the fees), and cannot exceed 15% of the portion of the basis attributable to new construction or to rehabilitation (before the addition of the fees).
4. If the developer and contractor are **related** parties, then the *non-deferred* combined fees for contractor's profit, overhead, and general requirements plus the developer's and consultant's fees, cannot exceed 15% of the portion of the basis attributable to acquisition (before the addition of the fees), and cannot exceed 25% of the portion of the basis attributable to new construction or to rehabilitation (before the addition of the fees).
5. If the **deferred** developer and consultant fees are **greater than** 25% of total development cost (less cash reserves and the claimed developer fee) minus the amount described in 3 and 4 above, then the application must include evidence satisfactory to THDA, in its sole discretion, that the deferred developer and consultant fees will be repaid and will not jeopardize the financial feasibility of the development.
6. For purposes of Sections C.1. and C.5., cash reserves and the claimed developer fee are subtracted from the total development costs before the total development costs are multiplied by 25%.
7. Documentation on the terms of the deferred developer fee portion must be provided with the Initial Application.

D. Limits on Costs of Issuance

As provided in Section 147(g) of the Code, the costs of issuance financed by the proceeds of Private Activity Bonds issued to finance Qualified Residential Rental projects may not exceed 2% of the proceeds of the Private Activity Bond issue.



Section 6: THOMAS Submission of Applications

A. Applications

1. All applications involving MTBA, including Firm and Conditional Initial Applications, must be submitted electronically through THOMAS. If THDA determines that THOMAS malfunctions in a way that renders applicants unable to submit applications, THDA will provide alternative instructions via e-mail BLASTS and THDA website postings.
2. All fees required at the time of application, as specified in Section 11, must be received by THDA via wire transfer prior to any determination of eligibility or scoring for any application.
3. Initial Applications must indicate whether the applicant is requesting a MTBA Conditional Commitment Letter or a MTBA Firm Commitment Letter as described in Section 10 of this MTBA Program Description.
4. Initial Applications that do not receive a Commitment Letter in Round 1 must reapply in order to be considered in Round 2.

B. Supporting Documents

1. Supporting documents as specified on the THOMAS Documents Page and referenced in the THOMAS User Manual as part of an Initial Application for a MTBA Conditional Commitment Letter, a MTBA Firm Commitment Letter, Supplemental MTBA, or subsequent applications must be uploaded into THOMAS as specified in the THOMAS User Manual. Supporting documents should be dated no earlier than 6 months prior to the applicable application deadline, unless otherwise specified in the QAP. These documents include, without limitation, the following:
 - a. Statement of Application and Certification; and
 - b. Issuer Certification; and
 - c. Inducement Resolution; and
 - d. Evidence of TEFRA Hearing; and
 - e. Bond Purchase Agreement; and
 - f. Bond Opinion Letter; and
 - g. Current 30-year pro forma for the proposed development.
2. The THOMAS Documents Page contains required forms and templates for required third party reports.
3. THDA will not accept cost certifications, market studies, physical needs assessments and appraisals prepared by parties THDA has determined are not independent from other members of the Development Team or Related Parties.

C. Calendar of Events

Table 6-1: Calendar of Events	
Dates	2023-2024 Application Rounds
February 17—March 13, 2023 [DATES]	Round 1 Initial Application Submission Window
May 4, 2023 [DATE]	Round 1 Determinations Announced
[TBD]DATE]	Round 2 Initial Application Submission Window
[TBD]DATE]	Round 2 Determinations Announced

D. MTBA Firm Commitment Eligibility Documents

The Initial Application for MTBA must include the following:

MTBA PD for 2023 page 22 of ~~34~~51



1. Statement of Application and Certification; and
2. Bond Purchase Agreement Summary Letter; and
3. Bond Opinion Letter; and
4. Issuer Certification; and
5. Inducement Resolution reflecting a MTBA amount no less than the MTBA amount requested in the Initial Application; and
6. Evidence of the TEFRA Hearing; and
7. Commitment for Permanent Financing; and
8. Written documentation from each service provider that all necessary utilities (i.e., electricity, gas, sewer, and water) are available at the proposed site.

E. MTBA Conditional Commitment Eligibility Documents

The Initial Application for MTBA must include the following:

1. Statement of Application and Certification; and
2. Issuer Certification; and
3. Inducement Resolution; and
4. Evidence of the TEFRA Hearing.

F. Multiple Applications for a Single Development

Only one application may be submitted and considered for a development. Multiple applications submitted as separate phases of one development will be considered as one development and reviewed as one application. THDA reserves the right to request additional information or documentation, if necessary, to determine if applications submitted will be considered and reviewed as one or more developments.

G. Multiple Developments Tied to a Single Bond Issuance

When a single issuing entity proposes a single bond issue to provide financing for multiple developments, the following requirements, at minimum, will apply in addition to all other applicable requirements:

1. A separate and full MTBA electronic application must be submitted for each development; and
2. An application fee as described in Section 11 must be submitted with the application for each development; and
3. If one or more of the developments is outside the jurisdiction of the issuing entity, the application must include documentation satisfactory to THDA, in its sole discretion, that the issuing entity is permitted to, and the jurisdiction in which the development is located consents to, the issuance of the bonds.



Section 7: Application Review Process

A. Applications Must Be Complete

1. An application must be complete, as determined by THDA in its sole discretion, based on the requirements in this MTBA Program Description and the on-line application in THOMAS.
2. **The applicant is solely responsible for the submission of an application with complete and current information.**

B. Information Must Be Current

Appraisal, Physical Needs Assessment, and Market Study information older than six (6) months prior to the applicable application deadline, as determined by the date prepared and information contained therein, will not be considered current. Other documentation, including any commitments, with expiration dates or approval dates that have passed will not be considered current. Applications are incomplete when they include materials that are not considered current.

C. Review of Applications Requesting a Commitment of MTBA

THDA will issue Evaluation Notices that may request additional documentation and/or information for purposes of clarification of eligibility, scoring and financial feasibility. Evaluation Notices will be issued in the following manner.

Table 7 - 1: Schedule of Evaluation Notices and Deadlines FOR ROUND 1	
Evaluation Notice	Deadline for Response
1	4 business 7 calendar days
2	2 business days
3	1 business day

Table 7 - 2: Schedule of Evaluation Notices and Deadlines FOR ROUND 2	
Evaluation Notice	Deadline for Response
1	7 calendar days

Applications with uncured deficiencies may be removed from consideration under this MTBA Program Description if the deficiencies are uncured after all Evaluation Notices have been sent. Applicants may resubmit the application in Round 2, but will be subject to a resubmission fee as described in Section 11 of this MTBA Program Description.



Section 8: Threshold Requirements and Scoring

A. Threshold Requirements

Developments requesting Noncompetitive Housing Credits must satisfy the applicable requirements of Section ~~21-25~~ of the QAP.

B. Minimum QAP Score

An eligible application must propose scoring of at least 60 points under the scoring system specified in Section ~~21-25~~ of the QAP.

C. ~~PD~~-MTBA Score

1. For purposes of ranking Initial Applications, points awarded according to Section ~~21-25~~ of the QAP will not be considered. Only points awarded according to this ~~Section 9.C~~ section will be considered.

2. Development Team Track Record

a. No individual involved in the Owner Entity or Developer Entity has been involved in a ~~2020-2021~~, ~~2021-2022~~, or ~~2022-2023~~ MTBA application that received and subsequently returned a Firm Commitment Letter.

10 points

3. Other Sources of Funds

a. Number of points awarded will be proportional to Other Sources of Funds expressed as a percentage of total development costs (e.g. if Other Sources of Funds expressed as a percentage of total development costs = 23.456%, then 2.3456 points will be awarded). **Points will only be awarded for funds for which a fully executed agreement, award letter, or contract is included with the Initial Application.** Note: points will be carried out four places to the right of the decimal point. *Up to 10 points*

4. Deepest Rehabilitation

a. Number of points awarded will be proportional to rehabilitation hard costs expressed as a percentage of total development costs (e.g. if rehabilitation hard costs expressed as a percentage of total development costs = 23.456%, then 2.3456 points will be awarded). Note points will be carried out four places to the right of the decimal point. *Up to 10 points*

5. In the event of a scoring tie among 2 or more Initial Applications under this Section 8.C, priority will be given to the Initial Application in the census tract with the **highest** percentile rank as reflected in the following table: <https://thda.org/pdf/MTBA-Tie-Breaker-for-Posting.pdf>, as determined by THDA, in its sole discretion.

~~DD~~. Noncompetitive LIHTC Scoring for eInitial Applications Proposing New Construction Only

The scoring criteria in this section are not intended to allow an Applicant to claim the maximum 100 points. An eligible Initial Application must have a minimum score of 65 points to be eligible. THDA will determine the score during the scoring review process.

1. Housing Credit Development Location: *Up to 20 points*

Initial Applications proposing developments located in counties with the greatest Project Location Score (Project Location Score) (see [MTBA PD for 2023 page 25 of ~~34~~51](https://thda.org/pdf/External-Posting-of-County-Needs-</u></p></div><div data-bbox=)



2. Meeting Housing Needs: Up to 6 points

- a. Initial Applications in which the 40/60 Test is elected may earn up to 5 points by setting aside an additional percentage of units for households with incomes no higher than 50% of AMI with rents maintained at or below the 50% AMI maximums.
- b. Initial Applications that elect the 20/50 Test may earn up to 5 points by setting aside an additional percentage of units for households with incomes no higher than 40% of AMI with rents maintained at or below the 40% AMI maximums.
- c. Units to be occupied by households with a Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher count towards this requirement.
- d. Initial Applications in which the Average Income Test is elected are ineligible for these points.

<u>Table 8-1: Units Restricted to Serve Lower Income Populations</u>	
<u>Percentage of Units Restricted (rounded up to next whole unit number)</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
<u>40/60 Test serving 50 percent households</u>	
<u>At least an additional 5 percent at 50 % AMI</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>At least an additional 10 percent at 50 % AMI</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>At least an additional 15 percent at 50% AMI</u>	<u>4</u>
<u>At least an additional 20 percent at 50% AMI</u>	<u>6</u>
<u>20/50 Test serving 40 percent households</u>	
<u>At least an additional 5 percent at 40 % AMI</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>At least an additional 10 percent at 40 % AMI</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>At least an additional 15 percent at 40% AMI</u>	<u>4</u>
<u>At least an additional 20 percent at 40% AMI</u>	<u>6</u>

3. Development Characteristics. All selected amenities must be maintained, repaired, or replaced for the term of the LURC. For Development Characteristics also appearing in Serving Resident Populations with Special Housing Needs or Serving Resident Populations with Children, points may only be claimed once: Up to 21 points

a. Exterior materials: Choose 1

i. Brick/stone veneer or stucco, minimum 60% and remaining exterior fiber cement and/or hardiplank: 4 points

OR

ii. Brick/stone veneer or stucco, minimum 50% and remaining exterior fiber cement and/or hardiplank: 3 points



OR

- iii. Brick/stone veneer or stucco, minimum 40% and remaining exterior fiber cement and/or hardiplank: _____ 2 points
- b. Use of anti-fungal roofing materials with a minimum 30 year warranty: _____ 2 points
- c. Installation of hookups for standard size washers/dryers in all units: _____ 3 points
- d. Construct and/or rehabilitate a gazebo containing a minimum of 100 square feet; which must be covered and have permanent bench seating affixed and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage: _____ 2 points
- e. Provide a minimum 1,200 square foot community building accessible to residents during reasonable hours; including evenings, holidays and weekends. The square footage counted towards this total may include a leasing office, an equipped exercise room, and an equipped computer center. Laundry room and storage/maintenance rooms will not be counted as part of the 1,200 square foot minimum: _____ 6 points
- f. All units pre-wired, with hidden wiring, for high speed Internet hookup with at least 1 centrally located connection port or if not wired, then a wireless computer network: _____ 2 points
- g. All units pre-wired, with hidden wiring, for high speed Internet hook-up with at least 1 centrally located connection port and connection ports in all bedrooms or if not wired, a wireless computer network: _____ 3 points
- h. Installation of a Range Oven, Fire Stop, Auto Stop or comparable extinguishing system over the stove in each unit: _____ 6 points
- i. Installation and maintenance of a camera video security system with at least one (1) camera monitoring each of the following areas: front of each building, back of each building, community room, computer center, rental office, all site entrance/exit roadways and parking areas: _____ 2 points
- j. Construction and maintenance of a walking trail, minimum four (4) feet wide and 1,250 linear feet paved and continuous. At least one (1) permanently anchored weather resistant bench with a back must be installed at the mid-point of the trail. Sidewalks are not eligible for these points. _____ 2 points
- k. Construction and maintenance of perimeter fencing extending around all sides of the development site, except at development entrances. Chain link fencing is not eligible for these points: _____ 2 points
- l. Construct and/or rehabilitate a pergola sized a minimum of 14 feet by 14 feet; that must have permanent bench seating affixed and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage: _____ 2 points
- m. Construct and/or rehabilitate a veranda that must be permanently attached to the side of a building. The veranda must be covered by a roof, be 10 feet wide and extend the length of the



attached side of the building. The veranda must contain permanent seating for 10% of the units at the development and be available to all residents for year round usage: 2 points

n. Landscaped covered pavilion with permanent table, bench seating, and grills, in an appropriate location available to all residents for year-round usage, and on an accessible path: 2 points

o. The proposed development exclusively involves a structure or structures listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places, or is located in a registered historic district and certified by the Secretary of the U. S. Department of the Interior as being of historical significance to the district. All proposed construction and/or rehabilitation shall be completed in such a manner as to be eligible for historic rehabilitation Housing Credit. Initial Applications seeking to combine historic nature and adaptive reuse will be treated as new construction. 2 points

4. Sponsor Characteristics: Up to 7 points

a. Development Team Tennessee Housing Credit Experience Up to 2 points

To reward recent Housing Credit experience in Tennessee, developers associated with the Development Team listed in THOMAS for this Initial Application MUST have received an allocation of Housing Credit previously in Tennessee as evidenced by THDA’s issuance of IRS Form(s) 8609 for that development. The Applicant must identify the most recent Tennessee Housing Credit allocation received. For developers partnering with an experienced Tennessee developer the Initial Application must include the Developer and/or Joint Venture Agreements detailing these co-developing and fee arrangements with regard to the Initial Application.

<u>Table 8-2: Development Team Prior Tennessee Allocations</u>	
<u>Year of Most Recent Allocation</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
<u>2019–2023</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>2018 and before</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>No Tennessee Experience</u>	<u>0</u>

b. Development Team Track Record: Up to 5 points

To reward proven Tennessee Development Team experience, the Development Team will be awarded points as shown in Table 8-3 based on Minor SAEs. Minor SAE recording began on January 1, 2019. Minor SAEs are attributed by event to all individuals associated with the proposed Development Team; however, each event is counted only once regardless of the number of individuals tied to the same event. For example: Development Team A involves 20 individuals and Development Team B involves 3 individuals. Each team has a pre-2023 development with 2 Minor SAEs. For 2023, in Table 8-3, Development Team A would be assessed 2 cumulative Minor SAEs and receive 3 points. Development Team B also would be assessed 2 cumulative Minor SAEs and receive 3 points.

<u>Table 8-3: Development Team Track Record</u>	
<u>Cumulative Minor SAEs</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
<u>5+</u>	<u>0</u>



<u>4</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>2 to 3</u>	<u>3</u>
<u>0 to 1</u>	<u>5</u>

5. Serving Resident Populations with Special Housing Needs:

5 points

Points may be taken for Serving Resident Populations with Special Housing Needs or Serving Resident Populations with Children, but not both. Initial Applications electing these points must indicate a residency preference for households with Special Housing Needs.

The proposed development must include:

- a. Memorandum of agreement(s) or contract(s) with supportive service provider(s) to provide Supportive Services appropriate for the particular special needs population that meets the definition under Section 2 or, if the resident population is older persons, the definition of Supportive Services for Older Persons; and
- b. Contain dedicated space, with appropriate furniture and fixtures, relevant to the Special Housing Needs Resident Population for said supportive service providers and provide at least one (1) of the following on-site amenities under 5.d.; or
- c. If the proposed development is an incremental development or a subsequent phase development that will result in a total of more than 80 units of tax credit and non-tax credit units combined amongst all phases/increments, then the proposed phased/increment development must include two (2) additional on-site amenities than what was provided in the previous increment or phase. The two amenities can be an additional dedicated space for supportive service providers and one amenity under 5.d. or two additional amenities under 5.d. than what was previously provided.
- d. Approved Onsite Amenities. All selected amenities must be maintained, repaired, or replaced for the term of the LURC.
 - i. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain an exercise facility for appropriate group activity for special housing needs residents. The space must be at least 900 square feet, if indoor;
 - ii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a gazebo containing a minimum of 100 square feet; which must be covered and have permanent bench seating affixed and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage;
 - iii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a pergola sized a minimum of 14 feet by 14 feet; which must have permanent bench seating affixed and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage;
 - iv. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a veranda which must be permanently attached to the side of a building. The veranda must be covered by a roof, be 10 feet wide and extend the length of the attached side of the building. The veranda must contain permanent seating for 10 percent of the units at the development and be available to all residents for year round usage;
 - v. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a walking trail, minimum four (4) feet wide and 1250 linear feet paved and continuous. At least one (1) permanently anchored weather resistant bench with a back must be installed at the mid-point of the trail. Sidewalks are not eligible for these points;:
 - vi. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a landscaped covered pavilion with permanent table and bench seating and grills, in an appropriate location available to all residents for year-round usage, and on an accessible path;



- vii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a fenced community garden with raised beds on an accessible path;
 - viii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain furnished rooms for meeting or working that can be reserved by tenants free of charge, which are available for use outside normal business hours; or
 - ix. Provide in the proposed development’s community room or computer center, updated computer systems equipped with high speed Internet service, which include new computers, new printers and new scanners purchased no earlier than 12 months prior to the placed in service date. The computers must be provided at a minimum of one (1) computer per 50 total units or part of 50 units. Printer cartridges, paper, computer supplies and on-going maintenance of the computer systems sufficient to meet reasonable resident demand must be furnished, free of charge, to residents. The computer system must be available to residents during regular office hours and occasionally during the evenings and weekends.
- e. Scattered Sites. Applicants for proposed scattered-site developments must submit a proposal for satisfying the amenity requirement outlined herein. Approval will be within THDA’s sole discretion. The proposal must be submitted at least 60 days prior to the Initial Application deadline.

6. Public Housing Waiting List/Housing Choice Voucher Holder: **1 point**
Initial Applications electing these points must indicate priority for households currently on a Public Housing waiting list or who have been approved for a Housing Choice Voucher pending identification of a unit (“HCV Voucher Holder”). This priority must be clearly documented in marketing plans, lease-up plans, and operating policies and procedures and provided with the Final Application.

7. Serving Resident Populations with Children: **5 points**
Points may be taken for Serving Resident Populations with Children or Serving Resident Populations with Special Housing Needs, but not both. Initial Applications electing these points must indicate a residency preference for households with children and must construct and/or rehabilitate the number of three (3) bedroom units that equals or exceeds a minimum of 20% of the total number of units in the development rounded up to the nearest whole unit.

The proposed development must include:

- a. An on-site playground with permanent playground equipment of commercial grade quality with a minimum of four separate pieces of equipment or a structure that encompasses a minimum of four pieces of equipment AND at least one (1) of the following on-site amenities under 7.c.; or
- b. If the proposed development is an incremental development or a subsequent phase development that will result in a total of more than 80 units of tax credit and non-tax credit units combined amongst all phases, then the proposed phased development must include an additional two (2) on-site amenities under 7.c. or an additional onsite playground as described above and one (1) additional on-site amenities under 7.c. than what was provided under the previous increment or phase.
- c. Approved On-site Amenities. All selected amenities, including playgrounds, must be maintained, repaired, or replaced for the term of the LURC.
 - i. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain an appropriately sized, dedicated space with appropriate furniture and fixtures for, and agreements with, providers of after-school tutoring or homework help programs. The space must be available to residents during regular office hours and occasionally during the evenings and weekends;



- ii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a sport field or court (basketball, tennis, baseball, field hockey, soccer, football, etc.) that incorporates permanent fixtures, a minimum of 1600 square feet, is surfaced appropriately for the sport(s) intended for that space, and is separate from all parking areas. The field or court must be available to all residents for year round use;
 - iii. Provide in the proposed development’s community room or computer center, updated computer systems equipped with high speed Internet service, which include new computers, new printers and new scanners purchased no earlier than 12 months prior to the placed in service date. The computers must be provided at a minimum of one (1) computer per 50 total units or part of 50 units. Printer cartridges, paper, computer supplies and on-going maintenance of the computer systems sufficient to meet reasonable resident demand must be furnished, free of charge, to residents. The computer system must be available to residents during regular office hours and occasionally during the evenings and weekends;
 - iv. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain exercise/fitness center of at least 200 square feet that includes at least two pieces of commercial grade equipment, and, for properties with more than 50 units, one additional piece of commercial grade equipment per 25 units. Operating instructions must be posted for each piece of commercial grade equipment.
 - v. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a walking trail, minimum four (4) feet wide and 1250 linear feet paved and continuous. At least one (1) permanently anchored weather resistant bench with a back must be installed at the mid-point of the trail. Sidewalks are not eligible for these points;
 - vi. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a landscaped covered pavilion with permanent table and bench seating and grills, in an appropriate location available to all residents for year-round usage, and on an accessible path;
 - vii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a fenced community garden with raised beds on an accessible path; or
 - viii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain furnished rooms for meeting or working that can be reserved by tenants free of charge, which are available for use outside normal business hours.
- d. Scattered Sites. Applicants for proposed scattered-site developments must submit a proposal for satisfying the amenity requirement outlined herein. Approval will be within THDA’s sole discretion. The proposal must be submitted at least 60 days prior to the Initial Application deadline.

8. Development Intended for Eventual Resident Ownership: **3 points**
Applicants offering qualified residents the right of first refusal to purchase single family Housing Credit buildings at the end of the fifteen-year Compliance Period shall include, in the Initial Application, a detailed plan specifically including how the Owner will set aside a portion of the rent beginning in year two (2) of the Compliance Period to provide sufficient funds to the resident at the end of the Compliance Period for the down payment and closing costs to purchase the unit. The plan shall be required to be updated and re-submitted to THDA at the end of year thirteen (13) of the Compliance Period. The LURC will contain provisions ensuring enforcement of this provision. If these points are elected, an Initial Application is **not eligible for points in Section 8-D-12 and Section 8-D-13.**

9. Energy Efficiency: **up to 10 points**
 a. ENERGY STAR rated HVAC systems (15 SEER minimum) in all units; (3 points)
 b. ENERGY STAR certified gas tankless water heater; (2 points)



- c. ENERGY STAR refrigerator (18 cubic foot minimum) with ice maker; (2 points)
 - d. ENERGY STAR rated windows in all units; (2 points)
 - e. ENERGY STAR ventilation fans (range hood, bathroom); (1 point)
- These ENERGY STAR requirements, if elected, must be met development wide when the development is placed in service.

10. Tennessee Growth Policy Act: **4 points**
Initial Applications with proposed developments located completely and wholly in a county or municipality with an approved growth plan under the Tennessee Growth Policy Act.

11. Waiver of the Qualified Contract Process: **10 points**
Initial Applications waiving the ability to participate in the QCP. If the Qualified Contract Process is waived, the Compliance Period within the LURC will be defined as thirty (30) years, unless there is an approved PILOT. If there is an approved PILOT, the Compliance Period will be defined as fifteen (15) years. The LURC will contain provisions ensuring enforcement of this provision. An Initial Application is **not eligible for these points if points are elected in Section 8-D-8.**

12. Extended Recapitalization Waiver: **Up to 8 points**
Applicants may defer the point when recapitalization of the proposed development, through a subsequent allocation of Housing Credit under the competitive or noncompetitive process, may be requested. Points are based on the number of years from the date the last building in the development placed in service. An Initial Application is **not eligible for these points if points are elected in Section 8-D-8.**

<u>Table 8 –5: Earliest Year When New Housing Credit May be Requested</u>	
<u>Years From Date Last Building Placed in Service</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
<u>17</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>20</u>	<u>8</u>

E. Noncompetitive LIHTC Scoring for Initial Applications Proposing Rehabilitation of Existing Multifamily Housing

The scoring criteria in this section are not intended to allow an Applicant to claim the maximum 100 points. An eligible Initial Application must provide a minimum score of 60 points which will be confirmed during the scoring review process.

1. Housing Credit Development Location: **2 points**
An Initial Application proposing a development and Housing Credit Development site wholly located within a HUD-defined QCT covered by a CCRP.

2. Meeting Housing Needs: **Up to 13 points**
 a. An Initial Application will be eligible for points based on the number of years since the date of the most recent placed in service event for the last building placed in service in the proposed development. The most recent placed in service date for the last building placed in service will be confirmed by THDA, in its sole discretion. **Up to 4 points**



<u>Table 8–6: Time Since Last Placed in Service</u>	
<u>Year Last Building Placed in Service</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
<u>After 2005</u>	<u>0</u>
<u>1998 – 2005</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>1994 – 1997</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>1991 – 1993</u>	<u>4</u>
<u>Before 1991</u>	<u>3</u>

b. Initial

Applications may receive these points (rounded down to the nearest 1/1,000th point) in proportion to the three (3) year average physical occupancy rate of the proposed development, rounded down to the nearest 1/1,000th percent. This three (3) year average physical occupancy rate shall be determined using both the occupied residential rental units which were charged rent as of December 1 during each of the previous three (3) years and the number of the total residential rental units determine at the last placed in service date for all the buildings in the development. Information must be certified by a CPA who shall confirm occupancy and rent information using December rent rolls for the prior three (3) years and the total number of residential rental units determined at the last placed in service date for all buildings in the development. For example, if the three (3) year average occupancy rate is 95.678%, $0.95678 \times 3 = 2.870$ points.

Up to 3 points

- c. An Initial Application proposing “per door” rehabilitation hard costs in excess of the \$25,000 minimum will be eligible for points

Up to 3 points

<u>Table 8–7: Proposed Rehabilitation Hard Costs per Unit</u>	
<u>“Per Door” Rehabilitation Amount</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
<u>Less than \$26,000</u>	<u>0</u>
<u>\$26,001 to \$40,000</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>\$40,001 to \$50,000</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>\$50,001 and above</u>	<u>3</u>

Initial Applications proposing to rehabilitate the highest percentage of the total of the currently existing affordable housing units in the county and the “pipeline” competitive and noncompetitive Housing Credit units in the county. Initial Applications may receive these points (rounded down to the nearest 1/1,000th point) in proportion to the ratio of post-rehabilitation Housing Credit units to the total of the currently existing affordable housing units in the county and the “pipeline” competitive and noncompetitive Housing Credit units in the county, rounded down to the nearest 1/1,000th percent. The county-by-county total of the currently existing affordable housing units in the county, the “pipeline” competitive and noncompetitive Housing Credit units in the county, and existing USDA/RD units is available on the THOMAS Documents Page by following this link: <https://thda.org/pdf/External-Posting-of-Unduplicated-Units.pdf>

- i. For example, if the number of post-rehabilitation Housing Credit units is 88, and the total of the currently existing affordable housing units in the county and the “pipeline”



competitive and noncompetitive Housing Credit units in the county is 789, (88/789) x 3 = 0.333 points. Up to 3 points

3. Development Characteristics. All selected amenities must be maintained, repaired, or replaced for the term of the LURC. For Development Characteristics also appearing in Serving Resident Populations with Special Housing Needs or Serving Resident Populations with Children, points may only be claimed once: Up to 23 points

a. Rehabilitating Existing Multifamily Housing in an area covered by a CCRP. Up to 5 points

b. Exterior materials: Choose 1

i. Brick/stone veneer or stucco (minimum 60%) and remaining exterior fiber cement and/or hardiplank: 4 points

OR

ii. Brick/stone veneer or stucco (minimum 50%) and remaining exterior fiber cement and/or hardiplank: 3 points

OR

iii. Brick/stone veneer or stucco (minimum 40%) and remaining exterior fiber cement and/or hardiplank: 2 points

c. Use of anti-fungal roofing materials with a minimum 30 year warranty: 2 points

d. Install hookups for standard size washers/dryers in all units: 3 points

e. Construct and/or rehabilitate a gazebo containing a minimum of 100 square feet; which must be covered and have permanent bench seating affixed and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage: 2 points

f. Provide a minimum 1,200 square foot community building accessible to residents during reasonable hours; including evenings, holidays and weekends. The square footage counted towards this total may include a leasing office, an equipped exercise room, and an equipped computer center. Laundry room and storage/maintenance rooms will not be counted as part of the 1,200 square foot minimum: 6 points

g. Pre-wire all units with hidden wiring, for high speed Internet hookup with at least 1 centrally located connection port or if not wired, then a wireless computer network: 2 points

h. Pre-wire all units with hidden wiring, for high speed Internet hook-up with at least 1 centrally located connection port and connection ports in all bedrooms or if not wired, a wireless computer network: 3 points

i. Install a Range Oven, Fire Stop, Auto Stop or comparable extinguishing system over the stove in each unit: 6 points



- j. Install and maintain a camera video security system with at least one (1) camera monitoring each of the following areas: front of each building, back of each building, community room, computer center, rental office, all site entrance/exit roadways and parking areas: **2 points**
- k. Construct and maintain a walking trail, minimum four (4) feet wide and 1250 linear feet paved and continuous. At least one (1) permanently anchored weather resistant bench with a back must be installed at the mid-point of the trail. Sidewalks are not eligible for these points: **2 points**
- l. Construct and maintain perimeter fencing extending around all sides of the development site, except at development entrances. Chain link fencing is not eligible for these points: **2 points**
- m. Construct and/or rehabilitate a pergola sized a minimum of 14 feet by 14 feet with permanent bench seating affixed and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage: **2 points**
- n. Construct and/or rehabilitate a veranda which must be permanently attached to the side of a building. The veranda must be covered by a roof, be 10 feet wide and extend the length of the attached side of the building. The veranda must contain permanent seating for 10% of the units at the development and be available to all residents for year round usage: **2 points**
- o. Construct and/or rehabilitate a picnic shelter which must be covered, with permanent table and bench seating and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage: **2 points**
- p. The proposed development exclusively involves a structure or structures listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places, or is located in a registered historic district and certified by the Secretary of the U. S. Department of the Interior as being of historical significance to the district. All proposed construction and/or rehabilitation shall be completed in such a manner as to be eligible for historic rehabilitation housing credit. Developments seeking to combine historic nature and adaptive reuse will be treated as new construction and are not eligible for the points in this Section 8-D-15-p. **5 points**

4. Sponsor Characteristics:

Up to 10 points

- a. Development Team Tennessee Housing Credit Experience

Up to 5 points

To reward recent Housing Credit experience in Tennessee, developers associated with the Development Team listed in THOMAS for this Initial Application MUST have received an allocation of Housing Credit previously in Tennessee as evidenced by THDA’s issuance of IRS Form(s) 8609 for that development. The Applicant must identify the most recent Tennessee Housing Credit allocation received.

For developers partnering with an experienced Tennessee developer, the Initial Application must include the Developer and/or Joint Venture agreements detailing these co-developing and fee arrangements with regard to the 2023 Initial Application. PHAs shall receive five points.

Table 8-8: Development Team Prior Tennessee Allocations

<u>Year of Most Recent Allocation</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
---------------------------------------	-------------------------



<u>2019–2023</u>	<u>5</u>
<u>2018 and before</u>	<u>3</u>
<u>No Tennessee Experience</u>	<u>0</u>

b. Development Team Track Record: **Up to 5 points**

To reward proven Tennessee Development Team experience, the Development Team will be awarded points as shown in Table 8–9 based on Minor SAEs. Minor SAE recording began on January 1, 2019. Minor SAEs are attributed by event to all individuals associated with the proposed Development Team; however, each event is counted only once regardless of the number of individuals tied to the same event. For example: Development Team A involves 20 individuals and Development Team B involves 3 individuals. Each team has a pre-2023 development with 2 Minor SAEs. For 2023, in Table 8-9, Development Team A would be assessed 2 cumulative Minor SAEs and receive 3 points. Development Team B also would be assessed 2 cumulative Minor SAEs and receive 3 points.

<u>Table 8–9: Development Team Track Record</u>	
<u>Cumulative Minor SAEs</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
<u>5+</u>	<u>0</u>
<u>4</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>2 to 3</u>	<u>3</u>
<u>0 to 1</u>	<u>5</u>

417. Serving Resident Populations with Special Housing Needs: **7 points**

Points may be taken for Serving Resident Populations with Special Housing Needs or Serving Resident Populations with Children, but not both. Initial Applications electing these points must indicate a residency preference for households with Special Housing Needs.

The proposed development must include:

- a. Memorandum of agreement(s) or contract(s) with supportive service provider(s) to provide Supportive Services appropriate for the particular special needs population that meets the definition under Section 2 or, if the resident population is older persons, the definition of Supportive Services for Older Persons; and
- b. Contain dedicated space, with appropriate furniture and fixtures, relevant to the Special Housing Needs Resident Population for said supportive service providers and provide at least one (1) of the following on-site amenities under 45.d.; or
- c. If the proposed development is an incremental development or a subsequent phase development that will result in a total of more than 80 units of tax credit and non-tax credit units combined amongst all phases, then the proposed phased development must include two (2) additional on-site amenities than what was provided in the previous increment or phase. The two amenities can be an additional dedicated space for supportive service providers and one amenity under 45.d. or two additional amenities under 45.d. than what was previously provided.



- d. Approved Onsite Amenities. All selected amenities must be maintained, repaired, or replaced for the term of the LURC.
- i. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain an exercise facility for appropriate group activity for special housing needs residents. The space must be at least 900 square feet, if indoor;
 - ii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a gazebo containing a minimum of 100 square feet; which must be covered and have permanent bench seating affixed and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage;
 - iii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a pergola sized a minimum of 14 feet by 14 feet; which must have permanent bench seating affixed and in an appropriate location available to all residents for year round usage;
 - iv. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a veranda which must be permanently attached to the side of a building. The veranda must be covered by a roof, be 10 feet wide and extend the length of the attached side of the building. The veranda must contain permanent seating for 10 percent of the units at the development and be available to all residents for year round usage;
 - v. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a walking trail, minimum four (4) feet wide and 1250 linear feet paved and continuous. At least one (1) permanently anchored weather resistant bench with a back must be installed at the mid-point of the trail. Sidewalks are not eligible for these points
 - vi. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a landscaped covered pavilion with permanent table and bench seating and grills, in an appropriate location available to all residents for year-round usage, and on an accessible path;
 - vii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a fenced community garden with raised beds on an accessible path;
 - viii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain furnished rooms for meeting or working that can be reserved by tenants free of charge, which are available for use outside normal business hours; or
 - ix. Provide in the proposed development's community room or computer center, updated computer systems equipped with high speed Internet service, which include new computers, new printers and new scanners purchased no earlier than 12 months prior to the placed in service date. The computers must be provided at a minimum of one (1) computer per 50 total units or part of 50 units. Printer cartridges, paper, computer supplies and on-going maintenance of the computer systems sufficient to meet reasonable resident demand must be furnished, free of charge, to residents. The computer system must be available to residents during regular office hours and occasionally during the evenings and weekends.
- e. Scattered Sites. Applicants for proposed scattered-site developments must submit a proposal for satisfying the amenity requirement outlined herein. Approval will be within THDA's sole discretion. The proposal must be submitted at least 60 days prior to the Initial Application deadline.

5. Public Housing Waiting List/Housing Choice Voucher Holder:

1 point

Initial Applications electing this point must indicate priority for households currently on a Public Housing waiting list or who have been approved for a Housing Choice Voucher pending identification of a unit ("HCV Voucher Holder)". This priority must be clearly documented in marketing plans, lease-up plans, and operating policies and procedures and provided with the Final Application.



6. Serving Resident Populations with Children:

7 points

Points may be taken for Serving Resident Populations with Children or Serving Resident Populations with Special Housing Needs, but not both. Initial Applications electing these points must indicate a residency preference for households with children and must construct and/or rehabilitate the number of three (3) bedroom units that equals or exceeds a minimum of 20% of the total number of units in the development rounded up to the nearest whole unit.

The proposed development must include:

- a. An on-site playground with permanent playground equipment of commercial grade quality with a minimum of four separate pieces of equipment or a structure that encompasses a minimum of four pieces of equipment AND at least one (1) of the following on-site amenities under 67.c.; or
- b. If the proposed development is an incremental development or a subsequent phase development that will result in a total of more than 80 units of tax credit and non-tax credit units combined amongst all phases, then the proposed phased development must include an additional two (2) on-site amenities under 7.c. or an additional onsite playground as described above and one (1) additional on-site amenities under 7.c. than what was provided under the previous increment or phase.
- c. Approved On-site Amenities. All selected amenities, including playgrounds, must be maintained, repaired, or replaced for the term of the LURC.
 - i. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain an appropriately sized, dedicated space with appropriate furniture and fixtures for, and agreements with, providers of after-school tutoring or homework help programs. The space must be available to residents during regular office hours and occasionally during the evenings and weekends;
 - ii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a sport field or court (basketball, tennis, baseball, field hockey, soccer, football, etc.) that incorporates permanent fixtures, a minimum of 1600 square feet, is surfaced appropriately for the sport(s) intended for that space, and is separate from all parking areas. The field or court must be available to all residents for year round use;
 - iii. Provide in the proposed development's community room or computer center, updated computer systems equipped with high speed Internet service, which include new computers, new printers and new scanners purchased no earlier than 12 months prior to the placed in service date. The computers must be provided at a minimum of one (1) computer per 50 total units or part of 50 units. Printer cartridges, paper, computer supplies and on-going maintenance of the computer systems sufficient to meet reasonable resident demand must be furnished, free of charge, to residents. The computer system must be available to residents during regular office hours and occasionally during the evenings and weekends;
 - iv. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain an exercise room of at least 900 square feet with at least 3 pieces of new equipment; Exercise/fitness center of at least 200 square feet that includes at least two pieces of commercial grade equipment, and, for properties with more than 50 units, one additional piece of commercial grade equipment per 25 units. Operating instructions must be posted for each piece of commercial grade equipment.;
 - v. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a walking trail, minimum four (4) feet wide and 1250 linear feet paved and continuous. At least one (1) permanently anchored



- weather resistant bench with a back must be installed at the mid-point of the trail. Sidewalks are not eligible for these points; or
- vi. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a landscaped covered pavilion with permanent table and bench seating and grills, in an appropriate location available to all residents for year-round usage, and on an accessible path; or
 - vii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain a fenced community garden with raised beds on an accessible path; or
 - viii. Construct and/or rehabilitate and maintain furnished rooms for meeting or working that can be reserved by tenants free of charge, which are available for use outside normal business hours.
- d. Scattered Sites. Applicants for proposed scattered-site developments must submit a proposal for satisfying the amenity requirement outlined herein. Approval will be within THDA's sole discretion. The proposal must be submitted at least 60 days prior to the Initial Application deadline.

20. Development Intended for Eventual Resident Ownership: 5 points

Applicants offering qualified residents the right of first refusal to purchase single family Housing Credit units at the end of the fifteen-year Compliance Period shall include, in the Initial Application, a detailed plan specifically including how the Owner will set aside a portion of the rent beginning in year two (2) of the Compliance Period to provide sufficient funds to the resident at the end of the Compliance Period for the down payment and closing costs to purchase the unit. The plan shall be updated and re-submitted to THDA at the end of year thirteen (13) of the Compliance Period. If these points are elected, an Initial Application is **not eligible for points in Section 8-D-23 and Section 8-D-24.**

21. Energy Efficiency: up to 10 points

- a. ENERGY STAR rated HVAC systems (15 SEER minimum) in all units (3 points);
- b. ENERGY STAR certified gas tankless water heater (2 points);
—ENERGY STAR dishwasher (2 points);
- c. ENERGY STAR refrigerator (189 cubic foot minimum) with ice maker (2 points);
- d. ENERGY STAR rated windows in all units (2 points);
—ENERGY STAR ceiling fans (1 point);
- e. ENERGY STAR ventilation fans (range hood, bathroom) (1 point).

22. Tennessee Growth Policy Act: 4 points

Initial Applications with proposed developments located completely and wholly in a county or municipality with a growth plan approved by the local government planning advisory committee as determined by the Tennessee Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations

23. Waiver of the Qualified Contract Process: 10 points

Initial Applications waiving the ability to participate in the QCP. If the Qualified Contract Process is waived, the Compliance Period within the LURC will be defined as thirty (30) years, unless there is an approved PILOT. If there is an approved PILOT, the Compliance Period will be defined as fifteen (15) years. The LURC will contain provisions ensuring enforcement of this provision. An Initial Application is **not eligible for these points if points are elected in Section 8-D-20.**

24. Extended Recapitalization Waiver: up to 8 points



Applicants may defer the point when recapitalization of the proposed development, through a subsequent allocation of Housing Credit under the competitive or noncompetitive process, may be requested. Points are based on the number of years from the date the last building in the development placed in service. An Initial Application is **not eligible for these points if points are taken in area Section 8-D-20 (Developments Intended for Eventual Resident Ownership).**

<u>Table 8-11: Earliest Year When Recapitalization May be Requested</u>	
<u>Number of Years Since Placed in Service</u>	<u>Points Available</u>
<u>17</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>20</u>	<u>8</u>



Section 9: Ranking Process

~~A. Bundled USDA Rural Development Initial Application~~

~~1. Multiple Applications for a Single Development~~

- ~~a. Multiple applications submitted as separate phases of one development will be considered as one development and reviewed as one application. THDA reserves the right to request additional information or documentation, if necessary, to determine if applications submitted will be considered and reviewed as one or more developments.~~
- ~~b. Only one application may be submitted and be considered for a development. THDA reserves the right to request additional information or documentation to determine if applications submitted will be considered and reviewed as one or more developments.~~
- ~~c. A single allocation may be requested for multiple developments provided that **each** of the following conditions applies to **each** development:
 - ~~(i) Development is currently financed through USDA Rural Development.~~~~
- ~~d. An application submitted under this Section 9 will be treated as an application for a single development for purposes of applying the limits in Section 5 of this Program Description.~~
- ~~e. In cases involving a single issuing entity conducting a single bond issuance to provide financing for multiple developments, the following requirements, at minimum, will apply in addition to all other applicable requirements as described herein:
 - ~~(i) A separate and full MTBA electronic application must be submitted for each development; and~~
 - ~~(ii) An application fee as described in Section 11 must be submitted with the application for each development; and~~
 - ~~(iii) If one or more of the developments is outside the jurisdiction of the issuing entity, the application must include documentation satisfactory to THDA certifying that that the issuing entity is permitted to, and the jurisdiction in which the development is located consents to, the issuance of the bonds.~~~~

B.A. Round 1

1. Available MTBA, including projects associated with MTBA Section 5.A.2. above, remaining after Section 9.A above will be divided as follows:
 - a. East Grand Division: 34% ~~of the MTBA remaining after Section 9.A above;~~
 - b. Middle Grand Division: 44% ~~of the MTBA remaining after Section 9.A above;~~
 - c. West Grand Division: 22% ~~of the MTBA remaining after Section 9.A above.~~
2. All eligible Initial Applications will be separated by Grand Division.
3. Within each Grand Division, eligible Initial Applications will be grouped in the following priority order:
 - ~~i) **Group 1:** requests for Supplemental MTBA (these requests will count against the MTBA for the Grand Division as described in Section 9.B.1 above);~~
 - ~~ii) **Group 112:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **rehabilitation of existing housing that IS currently income/rent restricted housing;**~~
 - ~~iii) **Group 223:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **new construction of public housing, where a PHA is included in the organizational structure of the Ownership entity in accordance with Section 3.B.3;**~~
 - ~~iv) **Group 334:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **rehabilitation of existing housing that IS NOT currently income/rent restricted.**~~
 - ~~v) **Group 445:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **new construction outside a QCT;**~~



- ~~vi)~~v) **Group 556:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **rehabilitation of public housing, where a PHA is included in the organizational structure of the Ownership entity in accordance with Section 3.B.3;**
 - ~~vii)~~vi) **Group 667:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **new construction in a QCT and covered by a CCRP;**
 - ~~viii)~~vii) **Group 778:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **new construction in a QCT not covered by a CCRP;** and
 - ~~viii)~~~~8~~
4. Within each group, eligible Initial Applications will be sorted in descending order by score as determined pursuant to Section 8.C.
 5. THDA will proceed down the list of eligible Initial Applications for each Grand Division, taking into account (without limitation) the limits described in Section 5.A.1, and the grouping and sorting process described in Section 9.BA.2 through Section 9.BA.3, making full commitments of MTBA until the point is reached where there is insufficient MTBA remaining in the Grand Division to make a full commitment of MTBA to the next eligible Initial Application. Remaining funds in each Grand Division will be combined to create a pool of funds available in accordance with Section 9.BA.6 and Section 9.BA.7 below.
 6. THDA will then list all eligible Initial Applications that have not yet received a commitment, regardless of Grand Division, and the statewide list will be grouped according to Section 9.BA.3 and sorted according to Section 9.BA.3.
 7. THDA will proceed down the statewide list of eligible Initial Applications, making full commitments of MTBA until the point is reached where there is insufficient MTBA remaining in Round 1 to make a full commitment of MTBA to the next eligible Initial Application. Any remaining funds will be carried forward to Round 2.
 8. No partial commitments will be made.

C.B. Round 2

1. All eligible Initial Applications will be grouped and sorted statewide as follows:
 - i) **Group A:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **new construction of public housing, where a PHA is included in the organizational structure of the Ownership entity in accordance with Section 3.B.3;**
 - ~~ii)~~ **Group B:** eligible Initial Applications proposing new construction outside a QCT;
 - ~~iii)~~ **Group C:** eligible Initial Applications proposing new construction in a QCT and covered by a CCRP;
 - ~~iv)~~ **Group D:** eligible Initial Applications proposing new construction in a QCT not covered by a CCRP; and
 - ~~ii)v)~~ **Group E:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **rehabilitation of existing housing that IS currently income/rent restricted housing;**
 - ~~iii)~~ ~~Group E:~~ ~~eligible Initial Applications proposing new construction outside a QCT;~~
 - ~~iv)~~vi) **Group F:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **rehabilitation of existing housing that IS NOT currently income/rent restricted.**
 - ~~v)~~ ~~Group G:~~ ~~eligible Initial Applications proposing new construction in a QCT and covered by a CCRP;~~
 - ~~vi)~~ ~~Group H:~~ ~~eligible Initial Applications proposing new construction in a QCT not covered by a CCRP; and~~
 - ~~vii)~~ **Group G:** eligible Initial Applications proposing **rehabilitation of public housing, where a PHA is included in the organizational structure of the Ownership entity in accordance with Section 3.B.3; and**
 - ~~viii)~~viii) **Group H:** Supplemental MTBA Requests.



2. Within each group, eligible Initial Applications will be sorted in descending order by score as determined pursuant to Section 8.C.
 - i) THDA will proceed down the statewide list of eligible Initial Applications, taking into account (without limitation) the grouping and sorting process described in Section 9.CB.1 and Section 9.CB.2, making full commitments of MTBA until the point is reached where there is insufficient MTBA remaining in the round to make a full commitment of MTBA to the next eligible Initial Application.
3. THDA will then offer a commitment to the highest ranking eligible Initial Application that requests an amount of MTBA that is equal to or less than the remaining balance after Section 9.CB.2.i.



Section 10: Commitment of MTBA

A. MTBA Conditional Commitment Letter

1. THDA will issue a conditional commitment letter for ~~2023~~–~~2024~~ MTBA (“Conditional Commitment Letter”) after determining that an eligible applicant has met all applicable requirements of this MTBA Program Description as determined by THDA in its sole discretion.
2. The expiration date of any MTBA Conditional Commitment Letter is December 15, ~~2023~~~~2024~~.
3. **A Conditional Commitment Letter DOES NOT GUARANTEE an applicant that THDA will issue a Firm Commitment Letter.**
4. An applicant with a Conditional Commitment Letter must notify THDA of its intent to convert a Conditional Commitment Letter to a Firm Commitment Letter no less than 45 calendar days prior to the date the applicant wishes to receive the Firm Commitment Letter and THDA may issue a Firm Commitment Letter, subject to the availability of MTBA at the time THDA receives such notification and subject to compliance with all requirements for a Firm Commitment Letter.
5. **THDA may issue Conditional Commitment Letters that, in the aggregate, exceed the amount of MTBA available under this MTBA Program Description.**

B. MTBA Firm Commitment Letter

1. THDA will issue a firm commitment letter for ~~2023~~–~~2024~~ MTBA (“Firm Commitment Letter”) after determining that an eligible application has met all applicable requirements of this MTBA Program Description.
 2. A Firm Commitment Letter will have an expiration date either ninety (90) or one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days from the date of issuance. The expiration date will be determined by THDA, in its sole discretion.
 - a. If the sources of funds include grant funds that are not considered in the PD score, the fully executed agreement, contract, or award letter must be submitted to THDA prior to the issuance of a Firm Commitment Letter.
- Any Firm Commitment Letter issued before September 16, ~~2023~~–~~2024~~ will expire ninety (90) calendar days from the date of issuance.
- b. Any Firm Commitment Letter issued on or after September 17, ~~2023~~–~~2024~~ will expire on December 15, ~~2023~~~~2024~~.
3. A Firm Commitment Letter issued before August 17, ~~2023~~~~2024~~, may be extended one time for a maximum of thirty (30) calendar days following the original expiration date. An Extension Fee as described in Section 11 must accompany the extension request. An extension request may be approved or denied by THDA, in its sole discretion.
 4. **THDA will not issue Firm Commitment Letters that, in the aggregate, exceed the amount of MTBA available under this MTBA Program Description.**



Section 11: Fees, Partial Refunds of Fees, and Fees Retained by THDA

A. Wiring Instructions

All fees should be in the form of an electronic wire. Applicants are encouraged to send the wire confirmation to thomas@thda.org.

Table 11 - 1: Wiring Instructions	
Bank:	US Bank
ABA:	064000059
BNF:	THDA Clearing Housing
BNF A/C:	151203673398
BNF ADDRESS:	502 Deaderick Street Andrew Jackson Building, Third Floor Nashville, TN 37243
OBI:	Housing Credit/Bond Application Fees + TN ID Number(s). Applicants may send one wire to cover multiple applications however, applicants must enter the applicable TN ID Number(s) in the OBI field on the wire.

B. Application Fee

An Application Fee of ONE THOUSAND, FIVE HUNDRED AND 00/100 DOLLARS (\$1,500.00) must be submitted to THDA at the time an application is submitted, except as provided in the subsequent paragraph. **THE APPLICATION FEE IS NOT REFUNDABLE.** If the fee is not submitted at the time an application is submitted, THDA will not review the application and will notify the applicant that the application has been rejected.

Initial Applications that do not receive a Commitment Letter in Round 1 and that reapply in Round 2 are not required to submit a second Application Fee for Round 2.

C. Resubmission Fee

A Resubmission Fee of seven hundred and fifty dollars (\$750) must be submitted to THDA if an application is resubmitted *after rejection for uncured deficiencies* based on requests for additional documentation and/or information for purposes of clarification as specified in the Evaluation Notice described in Section 7. **THE RESUBMISSION FEE IS NOT REFUNDABLE.**

D. Conditional Commitment Letter Fee

A Conditional Commitment Letter Fee of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) must be submitted in order for the Conditional Commitment Letter to be processed. **THE COMMITMENT FEE FOR A CONDITIONAL COMMITMENT LETTER IS NOT REFUNDABLE.**

E. MTBA Firm Commitment Letter Fee and Incentive Fee

1. Following issuance of a Firm Commitment Letter, Initial Applications must submit a Firm Commitment Letter Fee and an Incentive Fee in order for the Firm Commitment Letter to be processed.



2. Fees for a ninety (90) day Firm Commitment Letter:
 - a. The Commitment Fee is an amount equal to 1% of the MTBA approved by THDA.
 - b. The Incentive Fee is an amount equal to 20% of the Commitment Fee.
3. Fees for a one hundred and twenty (120) day Firm Commitment Letter:
 - a. The Commitment Fee is an amount equal to 1.5% of the MTBA allocated to the local issuer.
 - b. The Incentive Fee is an amount equal to 20% of the Commitment Fee.
4. **THE COMMITMENT FEE FOR A FIRM COMMITMENT LETTER IS NOT REFUNDABLE.**

F. Supplemental MTBA Request Fee

A Supplemental MTBA Request Fee of three thousand dollars (\$3,000) must be submitted to THDA at the time the Supplemental MTBA Request is submitted. THE SUPPLEMENTAL MTBA REQUEST FEE IS NOT REFUNDABLE. If the fee is not submitted at the time a request is submitted, THDA will not review the request and will notify the applicant that the request has been rejected.

FG. Refund of Incentive Fee Following Issuance of MTBA

1. The following documentation, without limitation, must be submitted by the applicable deadlines to be eligible for a refund of the Incentive Fee:
 - a. Documentation from Bond Counsel (including, without limitation, a closing confirmation letter) must be submitted no later than the expiration date of the Firm Commitment Letter;
 - b. Acceptable proof that all units are constructed and the development is placed in service must be submitted no later than two years after the expiration of the MTBA Firm Commitment Letter;
 - c. Acceptable proof that all forms to be filed by the Bond Issuer have been completed and filed to THDA's satisfaction must be submitted no later than two years after the expiration of the Firm Commitment Letter.
2. If the bonds were issued and sold on or before 11:59 PM Central Time on the date specified in the Firm Commitment Letter without a receiving an extension and all the conditions of Section 11 have been met, THDA will refund the **FULL** Incentive Fee.

GH. Release of Commitments and Refund of Incentive Fee

If recipients of Conditional Commitment Letters or Firm Commitment Letters release the MTBA allocated to them before the deadline in the Firm Commitment Letter when bonds will not be sold using the MTBA, THDA will refund a percentage of the Incentive Fee to support the earliest release of the committed MTBA. Voluntary withdrawal of a MTBA Commitment Letter in accordance with all applicable program requirements will not cause ineligibility as described in Section 3 of this MTBA Program Description, but will affect scoring as described in 8.C.2 of this MTBA Program Description.

Table 11 - 2: Deadline for Commitment to be Released and Incentive Fee Refund			
Phase	90 - Day Commitments	120 - Day Commitments	Amount Refunded
A	days 1 - 30	days 1 - 45	100%
B	days 31 - 60	days 46 - 90	50%
C	days 61 - 89	days 91 - 119	25%
D*	days 90 - 119	days 120 - 149	0%

* only applicable if a deadline extension is granted by THDA



HJ. Incentive Fee Retained by THDA

1. If a request for an extension to the deadline for closing the sale of the bonds beyond 11:59 PM Central Time on the original date specified in the Firm Commitment Letter is approved in accordance with Section 10, THDA will **RETAIN** the **FULL** amount of the Incentive Fee.
2. If the bonds are not issued and sold by the expiration date (original or extended) of the Firm Commitment Letter, and the Firm Commitment Letter has not been released as described in Section 11-G, and no extension has been requested or granted as described in Section 11-H, THDA will **RETAIN** the **FULL** amount of the Incentive Fee and a MTBA application for the development may not be resubmitted in ~~2023~~2024.
3. If the bonds are issued and sold, but the development is not placed in service, THDA will **RETAIN** the **FULL** amount of the Incentive Fee.

IJ. Monitoring Fee

Developments that receive MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits are subject to all monitoring fees set out in Section ~~5-4~~ of the QAP.

JK. Modification Fee

Developments that receive MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits and request modification are subject to Modification Fees as set out in Section ~~5-4~~ of the QAP. Payment of this fee does not guarantee approval of proposed changes or modifications.

KL. Extension Fee

Developments that receive MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits and request an extension are subject to Extension Fees as set out in Section ~~5-4~~ of the QAP. Payment of this fee does not guarantee approval of an extension.

LM. Requests for Refunds

If the applicant is eligible for any refund as described in Section 11-G or Section 11-H above, the applicant must submit a written request for a refund. The written request for a refund must be submitted no later than ~~1 year after the issuance date reflected on IRS Form(s) 8609~~ March 1 of the year after the development places in service. If ~~the last day to submit a written request for a refund~~ March 1 is not a THDA business day (e.g. weekend or holiday), the deadline will be the following THDA business day.



Section 12: Noncompetitive Housing Credits

- A. THDA will determine eligibility for Noncompetitive Housing Credits and the amount of Noncompetitive Housing Credit to be allocated to a development, up to the maximum amount permissible with MTBA financing. Any development seeking Noncompetitive Housing Credits must apply for and is subject to the applicable QAP in the same calendar year in which MTBA is committed. An application for Noncompetitive Housing Credits is subject to eligibility and threshold requirements as well as fees, including monitoring fees, found in the applicable QAP. **Receipt of a Firm Commitment Letter does not guarantee receipt of Noncompetitive Housing Credits.**
- B. If an Initial Application for Competitive Housing Credits and an application for MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits are submitted for the same development, the Initial Application for Competitive Housing Credits will be deemed ineligible.
- C. The maximum obtainable rents supported by the Market Study must be proposed for the proposed development and must support reasonable operating expenses and maximum mortgage debt service prior to Noncompetitive Housing Credits filling any financial “gaps”. This may require additional financing from other sources over and above the maximum amount of MTBA or Noncompetitive Housing Credit committed to the development by THDA.



Section 13: Requests for Supplemental MTBA

- A. Allocations of Supplemental MTBA are subject to availability of MTBA and will be made **ONLY** from any MTBA remaining after the final allocation to Group G of Round 2.
- B. Requests for Supplemental MTBA may be submitted outside the time periods specified in Table 6-1.
- CB. Any Firm Commitment Letter for an allocation of Supplemental MTBA under this Program Description will expire on December 15, ~~2023~~2024.



Section 14: Controlling Document

Although there is one application for MTBA and Noncompetitive Housing Credits; the MTBA Program Description applies to the MTBA and the ~~2023-2024~~ QAP applies to the Noncompetitive Housing Credits.

